
G:\City Administration\City Administration\Agendas\Agendas 2023\City Council 2023\20230720\20230720 CC AGENDA.doc  1 

Upcoming City Council Meetings August 3rd & August 17th, 2023 

AGENDA FOR THE REGULAR MEETING 
DUNSMUIR CITY COUNCIL 

July 20th, 2023 
REGULAR SESSION:  6:00 pm 

Join Zoom Meeting: https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84424135442 
Or Call: +1 669 900 6833  

Enter Meeting ID: 844 2413 5442 

As a courtesy, please turn off cell phones and electronic devices while the meeting is in session.  Thank you. 

1. CALL TO ORDER  AND FLAG SALUTE
2. ROLL CALL
3. SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS –

Lynda Scheben  - Ford Family Foundation Neighborhood  Fuel Mitigation Grant Update
4. PUBLIC COMMENT

Regular City Council meetings are posted on the City’s website to keep City residents 
informed of City Council actions and deliberations that affect the community. Meetings are 
scheduled to be televised on the 1st and 3rd Thursday of each month.  Meetings that take place 
on dates other than the 1st and 3rd Thursday will not be televised.
This time is set aside for citizens to address the City Council on matters listed on the Consent 
Agenda as well as other items not included on the Regular Agenda.  If your comments 
concern an item noted on the Regular Agenda, please address the Council when that item is 
open for public comment. Each speaker is allocated three (3) minutes to speak. Speakers 
may not cede their time to another speaker. Comments should be limited to matters within 
the jurisdiction of the City. Speaker forms are available from the City Clerk, 5915 Dunsmuir 
Ave, Dunsmuir, on the City’s website, or on the podium. The City Council can only take 
action on matters that are on the Agenda, but may place matters brought to their attention at 
this meeting on a future Agenda for consideration. If you have documents to present to 
members of the City Council, please provide a minimum of seven (7) copies.

5. COUNCIL AND STAFF COMMENTS
6. COMMITTEE REPORTS
7. APPROVAL OF MINUTES - 6/29/23 & Special Joint Meeting w/ Rec & Park 7/13/23
8. CONSENT AGENDA:

A. Check Register: 6/26-7/7/2023
B. Non-Union Pay Resolution 2023-11

9. PUBLIC HEARING:  NONE
10. OLD BUSINESS – NONE
11. NEW BUSINESS

A. Fuels Mitigation Support
B. Acceptance of Audit
C. Legal Services Agreement
D. Public Works Building Engineering Proposal

1

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84424135442


G:\City Administration\City Administration\Agendas\Agendas 2023\City Council 2023\20230720\20230720 CC AGENDA.doc  2 

12.  FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

• Aug 3rd meeting  - Community Promotions Funding 
• Sheriff’s contract extension 
• Just Cause absence policy 
• Town Historian – Ron McCloud show up every other meeting. Update ?  

 
   Future Agenda Items are topics brought to the City Council for review and/or   
   action.  All dates refer to first introductions and can be altered due to time and     
   priority levels. 
 
13.  ADJOURNMENT 

 
Copies of this agenda were posted at City Hall, Dunsmuir City Library, and City Website 
72 hrs. prior to meeting time. 
 
 
The City of Dunsmuir does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, religion, age, gender, 
sexual orientation, disability or any other legally protected classes in employment or provision of services.  
Persons who need accommodations for a disability at a public meeting may call City Hall at (530) 235-4822 
for assistance.  Notification 48 hours prior to the meeting will enable the City to make reasonable 
arrangements to accommodate participation in the meeting. 
 
CERTIFICATION  
 
This is the official Dunsmuir City Council Agenda, created and posted in accordance with the 
Dunsmuir City Council Protocols. 
 
 
________________________________________    _________________ 
Wendy Perkins, Deputy City Clerk      Date 

2



Scheben 7.17.23 
 

Ford Family Foundation Micro Grant for Dunsmuir Wildfire Resilience Project* 

The project is designed to assist 2-3 neighborhoods in creating and maintaining defensible space around their homes 
and neighborhood by providing no-cost chipping of brush and small trees from around homes and roadways.  Through a 
neighborhood work party, residents can work together to make their neighborhood and home safer in the event of a 
wildfire.  

After clearing brush and small trees from around homes, residents can participate in the neighborhood event by piling 
branches, limbs, and other woody vegetation on the curbside or the designated location.   On the day of the 
neighborhood event, a mobile woodchipper will be brought to the event.  Also, a roll-off dumpster will be provided for 
non-chippable green waste like pine needles, leaves, yard clippings, roots, stumps, poison oak, scotch 
broom, blackberries, and other vines. A barbeque will be provided after the work party! 

 
*Note:  The Ford Family Founda�on has funded the Dunsmuir Wildfire Resilience Project (via the City of Dunsmuir as 
fiscal sponsor) a micro-grant of $2500.  The funds will be used to support 2-3 neighborhood hazardous fuels cleanup days 
in Summer/Fall 2023.  These will be par�es with a purpose! Funds will cover prin�ng and mailing costs for outreach to 
par�cipa�ng neighborhoods, food and drinks at the events.  Some of the green waste chipping and disposal fees could 
be covered by these funds but the project will seek in-kind support from the City of Dunsmuir, the Dunsmuir-Castella Fire 
Department and other partners to assist with these costs.  Wildfire preparedness, evacua�on and Firewise USA 
recogni�on informa�on will also be provided to par�cipants at these par�es. 
 
These neighborhood hazardous fuels cleanup days are ini�al experiments through which we hope to create some energy, 
momentum, and visibility for neighborhood fuels mi�ga�on work in Dunsmuir and to inform the direc�on and forma�on 
of a larger project. We see a need for a City of Dunsmuir green waste and/or chipping program for neighborhoods to 
easily access and u�lize in the spring and fall; a collabora�ve en�ty to organize and coordinate fuels projects in the 
greater Dunsmuir area; and/or a group to catalyze neighborhood-scale work to increase safety and wildfire resilience, 
and to work towards official Firewise recogni�on for neighborhoods.   
 
Collabora�ve partners involved or to provide technical assistance as feasible are the City of Dunsmuir, CAL FIRE, 
Dunsmuir-Castella Fire Department, Fire Safe Council of Siskiyou County, Mt. Shasta Bioregional Ecology Center, 
Dunsmuir Community Resource Center, and The McConnell Founda�on. 
 

3



\\cod-fs\ch-docs\City Administration\City Administration\MINUTES\City Council\2023 City Council Minutes\20230629 CC minutes DRAFT 
2.docx  

1 

CITY OF DUNSMUIR 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

June 29th, 2023 
 
CALL TO ORDER AND FLAG SALUTE: 
Meeting was called to order @ 6:12 pm by Mayor Lucchesi 
ROLL CALL: 
Council members present:   Clarno, Bryan, Keisler (remote) , Deutsch, Lucchesi 
Absent: None 
City staff present:  City Manager Rief, Deputy City Clerk Perkins 
 
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS AND ANNOUCEMENTS 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
Open at 6:19 p.m. 
Hood, Sandra: Thanks the city for the road closures during Railroad Days. 
Narcissa Somers: Requests hard of hearing devices like the ones they have at movie theatres 
and churches. Feels as though she’s been excluded from city government because of her 
difficulty hearing. Acoustics are not helpful, would like help with headphones that are used for 
that purpose. 
Lucchesi wishes to provide ADA accommodations 
Alex Brendel : Wants Narcissa to be able to listen in to City Council meetings. (using hearing 
phones/head phones) 
Noel Harrison: 
Peter Arth: says Wagoner Building is right at edge of becoming a tear down building 
Tim Holt: Is concerned about deteriorating buildings. Need to speak to attorneys that specialize 
in inspection warrants. 
Mario Rubino – City manager comments on wanting one with a Public Administration degree. Is 
concerned about issues with employee relations.  Experise in job skills are not being valued by 
management. Wondering when things on budget were discussed by council. Feels that 
management is treating city as a private corporation.  
Lynda Scheben: started CEQA project for fuels mitigation project using grant money. Wanted to 
share updates for fire safety issues. Need more participation from residents. Could use council 
support and city staff to get more people to sign up So far 114 properties signed up. All 
Dunsmuir properties. Tauhindauli is a challenge, multiple owners. Could do fuel reduction on 
trail but it’s complicated.  Would love more participation and help. Small grant from Ford 
Family foundation. $2500 for neighborhood green waste activities. 
 

4



\\cod-fs\ch-docs\City Administration\City Administration\MINUTES\City Council\2023 City Council Minutes\20230629 CC minutes DRAFT 
2.docx  

2 

 
 
COUNCIL AND STAFF COMMENTS 
City Manager:  Mott Road is back open as of 3:30 p.m. today (sink hole) 
Downtown revitalization and public works projects are going on. Park access will be shut off at 
times next week near community center. 
Clarno – Farmers market opening day today, Go visit! 
Bryan – None 
Deutsch – Alert system that DPAC was looking at...has been installed in Paradise.  Would have 
back up power supply for the alarms. Newest systems are designed to allow to have people 
talking over them (vs bells/sirens). Would tie into Zone Haven/Genesis.  
Keisler: Thanks everyone for their acceptance, had knee surgery, couldn’t be at meeting in 
person.  
Keisler was elected to stick up for their electorate. There’s a problem, and hopes they are being 
paid attention to. 
 
COMMITEE REPORTS 
The Finance Committee met with auditor, went over the previous budget.  Should adopt grant 
management policy which is on agenda today. Need to change reporting on contract that 
cannot be quickly cancelled, compliance issues. 
Fire Safe Council – 12- 15 people met.  Dunsmuir/Castella fire safe council, Castella is a wick to 
our community should anything ever happen now.  
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Motion to approve minutes of June 15th, 2023 by,    Clarno   2nd by  Deutsch  
Just cause exemption by Bryan and 2nd by Deutsch item 1.b to consider. Just cause exemption. 
Public comment open at: 6:13 p.m. 
Arth: Technology makes it easy for none of us to be in this room.  Thinks a medical reason is a 
valid one. 
Deutsch, Clarno, Bryan, Lucchesi is AYE 
Keisler is allowed to participate in meeting fully in a remote capacity for this meeting. 
 
Roll Call Vote: 
   AYES:   Deutsch, Keisler (Zoom), Clarno, Bryan, Lucchesi 
   NOES:  None 
   ABSENT:  None 
   ABSTAIN:  None  
CONSENT AGENDA 

5



\\cod-fs\ch-docs\City Administration\City Administration\MINUTES\City Council\2023 City Council Minutes\20230629 CC minutes DRAFT 
2.docx  

3 

A. Check Register: 5/27/2023-6/25/2023 
B. Grant Management Policy 

Motion to adopt consent agenda by   Deutsch , 2nd by Clarno 
 
Roll Call Vote:  AYES:  Clarno, Keisler, Deutsch,  Bryan, Lucchesi 
   NOES:  None 
   ABSENT:  None 
   ABSTAIN:  None 
Deutsch requests that the fireworks Ban item be brought forward. All in favor. 
11. C will be moved up to the next item on this agenda. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS: NONE 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 

A. 2nd Reading Ordinance 575 – Dunsmuir Zoning Code Update 
City Planner Tinsman – introduces the item.  
It failed to repeal the original 15.40 Signs Chapter from last Ordinance. This was a clerical error. 
He forgot to put it in ordinance. It is transparent that it was always intended to remove Chapter 
15.40 “Signs” in  
 
Lucchesi doesn’t want to have procedural issues due to the Chapter or Title 15 being amended. 
CEAQ has already been adopted and filed. 
Rico Don’t know if this is an issue, would like them tied together. 
 
Should we continue this item?  Should we take action? We could take action and make any 
corrections after the fact, if necessary. We can fix it if it wasn’t done right.  
Should we take Section II out?  
 
Public comment open : 7:18 
Peter Arth – City of Yreka are dealing with a lot of shut in residential housing, targeting low in 
come and very low income populations. They will receive financial support from state of 
California. Want to know what City doesn’t show initiative. There are no vacancies (housing) for 
people that are not wealthy. Yreka thinks it is a crisis, we should too (homelessness/lack of 
housing for low income) 
 
Keisler- None 
Deutsch – Split it? Prefer to split it, to keep it just title 17 and pull out 15 for now? 
 
 

Motion by Lucchesi 2nd by Keisler to adopt Ordinance 575 amending Title 15, buildings and 
construction and Title 17, Zoning of Dunsmuir Municipal Code. 
 

6



\\cod-fs\ch-docs\City Administration\City Administration\MINUTES\City Council\2023 City Council Minutes\20230629 CC minutes DRAFT 
2.docx  

4 

Roll Call Vote:   AYES:  Clarno, Keisler, Deutsch, Bryan, Lucchesi 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT:  None 
ABSTAIN:  None 
 
5-minute recess 7:36 

 
B. Budget 2023-2025 

Public comment open at 7:47 p.m. 
Peter Arth – Attended the meeting proponents of projects, what is downtown Wi-Fi project 
doing in this community promotions funding? Finance Committee though every public project 
should be included, kicking out downtown Wi-Fi, not giving a haircut to public led initiatives.  If 
we can’t support library you don't have money for downtown Wi-Fi. Curbs and sidewalks are 
more important than downtown Wi-Fi.  
Mario Rubino – Did u say fc knew after raising to $82k that we knew about it removing the 
downtown Wi-Fi.  After raising it, Finance committee recommends allocating $88,000 in 23-24 
specific allocation will be determined.  Is upset they are we passing a budget late into June 
almost July. 
Closed at: 7:54 p.m. 
 
Clarno in favor of sending it back to finance committee Deutsch 
 
Keisler supports $107K. 2 in favor cap of 75k and refer back to fd, two in favor of just send back 
to fc without a cap. 
 
Further discussion 
Should we pull $26K in funding completely from Community Promotions funding...? 
(ALLOCATED FOR PARK AND RECREATION) 
 
Would like to assign a cap and refer back to Finance Committee All in favor of setting a cap and 
referring back to FC 
 
 
Roll Call  Vote:  AYES:  Clarno, Deutsch, Bryan, Lucchesi 

NOES:  KEISLER 
ABSENT:  None 
ABSTAIN: None 
 
Vote on total cap: 
 
Motion by.  2nd by.   BLANK 
To assign a cap of $83,600 (w/o Parks and Rec)  

7



\\cod-fs\ch-docs\City Administration\City Administration\MINUTES\City Council\2023 City Council Minutes\20230629 CC minutes DRAFT 
2.docx  

5 

Refer it back to FC with a cap  
 
Discussion of what cap should be  
 
 

Clarno moves Bryan 2nd to adopt the 2023-2025 Budget with community promotions 
funding with a cap at : $68,000 cap....Bryan agrees with Clarno’s suggestion 
 
Keisler wants to refer it back to FC w/o council setting a cap 
 
Majority supports cap of $68k and refer back to FC with cap 

 
Roll Call  Vote:  AYES:  Clarno,  Deutsch, Bryan, Lucchesi 
   NOES:  Keisler 
   ABSENT:  None 
   ABSTAIN:  None 
 
Keisler concerned that 68k does not include downtown Wifi 
Consensus to revamp community promotions funding for next cycle 
Include in motion Bryan set camp 68k for 24-25 fiscal year as well 
 
Keisler not in favor of setting that cap for 24-25 as well. 
Bryan wants to remove that point all together. 
CM wants to set cap for next fiscal year in January so everyone knows what cap is. 
Let’s sit on not setting cap for 24-25 
Placeholder at 70K (not 75k) with expectation that it will be revised. 
68 + 26 w/o Parks 
Set budget for 2024-2025 of 70k to revisit in Jan. 2024 prior to next round of community 
promotions funding 
Deutsch moves to make that happen 2nd Keisler by all in favor:  
Roll Call Vote:   AYES:  Clarno, Keisler, Deutsch, Bryan, Lucchesi 

NOES:  None 
ABSENT:  None 
ABSTAIN:  None 

FC happening July 17th 3 p.m. in Council Chambers. 
 
C. Council appointment – To Snow Removal Ad Hoc Committee 

Keisler moves Clarno  2nds to appoint Clarno and Keisler to the Snow Removal Committee 
Keisler – as an alternate. All in favor. Public comment open at: 9:11 p.m. None. 
 

8



\\cod-fs\ch-docs\City Administration\City Administration\MINUTES\City Council\2023 City Council Minutes\20230629 CC minutes DRAFT 
2.docx  

6 

Roll Call Vote:   AYES:  Clarno, Keisler, Deutsch, Bryan, Lucchesi 
NOES:  None 
ABSENT:  None 
ABSTAIN:  None 

 
D. Operating Engineers MOU – 2023-2026 

Bryan recuses himself: 
Question about how we are public works director is the waste water 3, he still is under 
probationary status. Has Grade 5 waste water operator will bring on for training. We will be 
replacing Greg with Our public works director Waste Water 3 person.  
2.5 pers certificate was added into employee pay. Got us into situation where we have no 
wastewater operators. There was no encouragement or growth pattern to move employees 
back in through the ladder. Feels we need to have more wastewater operators in the union, will 
be held by public works director (pending test).  
None of the lower staff been have able to learn the reporting side, nor have they been 
encouraged to move up and explore the other side of it. When PW director holds WWIII, 1 
maint. Foreman position open. Can fit him in as a trainer and still encourage personal growth. 
There will be required certificates to promotion. CM will be able to hire and fill in some 
positions to help with the overall growth of City. 
 
Public comment open at 9:21 p.m.  None 
 
Motion by Deutch     2nd by Clarno   to approve the MOU with Operating Engineers  Local 
Union 3 contract 2023-2026 
All in favor.  
Keisler is not responsive 
Roll Call Vote:   AYES:  Clarno, Deutsch, Lucchesi 

NOES:  None 
ABSENT:  Keisler (connectivity issues) 
ABSTAIN:  Bryan 

 
E. Pace Engineering Agreement for Final Design, Bidding & Construction Management of 

Sewer Main Replacement Project 
 

Public comment open: none 
Motion to approve by  Deutsch  2nd by Bryan   Resolution Authorizing City Manager and Finance 
Director to Sign Clean Water SRF related documents.  
All in favor w  Keisler gone absent. 
Roll Call Vote:   AYES:  Clarno, Deutsch,  Bryan, Lucchesi 

NOES:  None 
ABSENT:  Keisler (connectivity issues) 
ABSTAIN:  None 

9



\\cod-fs\ch-docs\City Administration\City Administration\MINUTES\City Council\2023 City Council Minutes\20230629 CC minutes DRAFT 
2.docx  

7 

 
NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Resolution for Application for Sewer Collection System and Lift Station 
Motion to approve City of Dunsmuir City Collection System Improvement Project Proposal for 
Engineering Design and Construction Services 
 
Motion by Bryan    2nd by Clarno  to approve Resolution 2023-10 for application for Sewer 
Collection System and Lift Station. 
Roll Call Vote:   AYES:  Clarno, Deutsch,  Bryan, Lucchesi,  

NOES:  None 
ABSENT:  Keisler (connectivity issues) 
ABSTAIN:  None 

 
   

B. Cal Cities Council Attendance and Designation of Voting Delegate –  
 
Attendance: 2 or 3? 
Who can go? Clarno? Deutsch?  
Bryan thinks Clarno and Lucchesi should go 
Table til next meeting? 
Lucchesi makes motion 2nd by Bryan to send Clarno and Deutsch to attend Cal Cities. All in 
favor. 
Also willing to send Keisler after we make a decision to see how much it will cost for all 3 people 
to go? 
Keisler as alternate (if budget allows) 
Public comment open at 9:37 p.m. 
Voting members?   Who? 
Motion by Lucchesi have Clarno be the voting member 2nd by  Deutsch(Deutsch as alternate) All 
in favor (with Keisler absent due to technical difficulties). 
 

C. Fireworks Ban Resolution – 2023-09 
 
City Manager Rief – Fire Chief asked resolution to ban fireworks. 
Fire Chief wants to wait until two consecutive “good winters” before deciding anything other 
than a fireworks ban. 
Public comment open at  6:50 p.m. 
Scheben: We have extreme fire risk, there are lighting fires and small vegetation fires starting 
to happen. 
Leshefsky: Hopes that next year that we do this a few weeks earlier so that folks are warned in 
advance. 
Arth: Proud of STR licenses it has granted. Typically, they do not come from area, they do not 
know about fire safety and fire situation. How will you get this info to the STR operators that 
they are prohibited?  

10



\\cod-fs\ch-docs\City Administration\City Administration\MINUTES\City Council\2023 City Council Minutes\20230629 CC minutes DRAFT 
2.docx  

8 

Bill Phanner: If outside City Limits, what is the fire regulations? What is county enforcing? 
Supports fire safety, there are people that don’t live in City that are right here in this room. 
Alan Clother: Can we enforce this ban? 
Public comment over: 6:55 p.m. 
CM Rief: Code enforcement will not be staffed but Sheriff’s and Fire Chief will be. 
Clarno: Talks about ordinance that would have been needed to write this into City Code (want 
an ordinance when fireworks can be used and when they cannot). 
 
Motion to approve Resolution 2023-09 to Ban Fireworks in the City Limits by    Bryan   2nd by Keisler 
 

 
Roll Call Vote:  AYES:  Clarno, Keisler, Deutsch, Bryan, Lucchesi 
   NOES:  None 
   ABSENT: None 
   ABSTAIN:  None 

 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 

• 2nd July meeting community promotions funding coming back 
• Sheriff’s contract extension 
• Just Cause absence policy 
• Town Historian – Ron McCloud show up every other meeting. Update ?  

 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Motion to adjourn at 9:41 p.m. 
 
                _____________________________ 
                                                                                          Mayor Lucchesi 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________ 
Deputy City Clerk Perkins 
 

11



 

\\cod‐fs\ch‐docs\City Administration\City Administration\MINUTES\City Council\2023 City Council Minutes\20230713 SPECIAL MEETING 
WITH COUNCIL AND REC AND PARK MINUTES.odt  

1

CITY OF DUNSMUIR 

SPECIAL JOINT MEETING OF THE DUNSMUIR CITY COUNCIL AND DUNSMUIR RECREATION 

AND PARKS DISTRICT BOARD 

 MINUTES 

JULY 13TH, 2023 

CALL TO ORDER AND FLAG SALUTE: 

Meeting was called to order @ 6 pm by Mayor Lucchesi 
ROLL CALL: 

Council members present:  Deutsch, Keisler, Clarno, Bryan, Lucchesi 
Recreation and Park Board Present: McArron, White, O’Grady, Newman, Admin. Rodriguez 
City staff present:  City Manager Rief 
City staff absent:  Deputy City Clerk Perkins 
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS AND ANNOUCEMENTS ‐ None 

PUBLIC COMMENT ‐ None 

COUNCIL AND STAFF COMMENTS ‐ None 

COMMITEE REPORTS ‐ None 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES ‐ None 

CONSENT AGENDA ‐ None 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: NONE 

OLD BUSINESS: None 
NEW BUSINESS: 

A. Review and Discuss Parks and Recreation Leases –  
Brief overview of Leases and Scope of Work Agreements for Park Maintenance 
Public comment open at: 6:40 p.m.  
Mario Rubino – Wants to know why the groups that use the park aren’t here 
Alex Brendel – Comments on scrap brush/limbs being made available to public  

B. Conduct a SWOT Analysis  of Rec & Park (Strength, Weakness, Opportunities, 
Threats) 

C. Discussion of the Short‐ and Long‐Term Plans of the Parks and Recreation District 
D. Set Date for Future Joint Meeting and Establish Agenda items to Discuss 

Discussion on what date to set for next joint meeting. It’s decided that the next joint meeting 
be Wednesday August 9th. 

FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
                      _____________________________ 
                                                                                          Mayor Lucchesi 
ATTEST: 
 
___________________________ 
Deputy City Clerk Perkins 

12



City of Dunsmuir

Check Register Report

Check 
Date

Check 
Number

Status Amount

7.20.23 council meeting

BANK: 

Vendor 
Number

Vendor Name Check Description

U.S. BANK 1Page:
 2:59 pmTime:

07/17/2023Date:

Void/Stop 
Date

Reconcile 
Date

U.S. BANK Checks

90.75June 19th-27th cleaningREBECCA CATLETT 5325Printed06/30/202357890

44.52Gordano DEP ReturnCITY OF DUNSMUIR9820Printed06/30/202357891

25,321.75June 2023CLEMENS WASTE REMOVAL6325Printed06/30/202357892

90.00Qtrly phone April-June2023ANTHONY CONGI 6630Printed06/30/202357893
90.00April-June 2023 QTRLY phoneDENNIS DELLA BONA 12752Printed06/30/202357894

299.00office 365 June 13 membersGARLAND TECH, INC.10743Printed06/30/202357895

135.48Deposit less July water billGIORDANO, TRUDIE10864Printed06/30/202357896

4,000.00USDA water projectGREAT NORTHERN CORP.17310Printed06/30/202357897
3,635.00Grade III Operator for June23GRIMM, GREG10657Printed06/30/202357898

183.80LED ss S/t/t 4" RDNAPA47520Printed06/30/202357899

46.02radio install parts USB adaptO'REILLY AUTO PARTS9201Printed06/30/202357900

424.73ww biweekly lnd 23F0755PACE ANALYTICAL SERVICES, 
LLC

10753Printed06/30/202357901

31.47river ave sewage liftPACIFIC POWER39015Printed06/30/202357902

6,275.91June 23 powerPACIFIC POWER39015Printed06/30/202357903
9,931.25audit year end June30th 2022CHARLES W PILLON 10491Printed06/30/202357904

234.3865X95 OE whit 50pkQUILL CORPORATION10525Printed06/30/202357905

100.00fabricate water box wrenchesSTEVE RICE 9977Printed06/30/202357906

50.00treasurer June 2023MARIO J. RUBINO 45110Printed06/30/202357907
42.99DIA NAT LMB/ Dog 40#SOLANO'S CONTRACTOR57228Printed06/30/202357908

242,401.78downtown tankSTEWART ENGINEERING INC10791Printed06/30/202357909

1,875.00pre audit test work, GASB 87WALLACE, DAVID L.10844Printed06/30/202357910

1,985.61June 2023 FuelWEX BANK10752Printed06/30/202357911
2,000.00labor and Equip. 6" hot tapWHITEHAWK CONSTRUCTION00010Printed06/30/202357912

1,520.60dump and replace drop box PWYREKA TRANSFER COMPANY60005Printed06/30/202357913

54,964.622024 Chevrolet 2500 gas truckLITHIA CHEVROLET OF 
REDDING

10860Printed07/03/202357914

2,592.00mxi93058679ALLIANT INSURANCE 
SERVICES,INC

9999992303Printed07/07/202357915

2,518.91NEMA motor 20HPAPPLIED INDUSTRIAL 
TECHNOLOGIE

1550Printed07/07/202357916

1,700.00E812, E810,E814, 820 pump testBURTON'S FIRE, INC.4523Printed07/07/202357917

534.24SDSA pump waterCITY OF DUNSMUIR9820Printed07/07/202357918

8,437.004-440Duns ATP May2023CIVICWELL10783Printed07/07/202357919

13,380.00Plow, Blade and HarnessD & D SEEDS AND FARM 
EQUIPMENT

10717Printed07/07/202357920

8,625.00Mower, mulch kit mount kitD & D SEEDS AND FARM 
EQUIPMENT

10717Printed07/07/202357921

46.40DSA 796 April-June2023DIVISION OFTHE STATE 
ARCHITECT

10149Printed07/07/202357922

842.55frut punch RTDFASTENAL COMPANY9303Printed07/07/202357923

2,801.80LF brs 125# thrd swgFERGUSON ENTERPRISES 
INC,1423

5219Printed07/07/202357924

25.00fingerprint roll chargeMT SHASTA CITY33130Printed07/07/202357925

1,200.00IT services July 2023MT. SHASTA IT SERVICES, INC.10650Printed07/07/202357926

1,130.61July-Sept 2023 qtrly inv.NBS GOVERNMENT FINANCE 
GROUP

10730Printed07/07/202357927

78.52drinking wa weeklyPACE ANALYTICAL SERVICES, 
LLC

10753Printed07/07/202357928

3,078.69plan check June2023SMITH BUILDING SERVICES, 
LLC

47676Printed07/07/202357929

3,477.835750 Sac. Ave Lease-RentUNION PACIFIC RAILROAD CO50840Printed07/07/202357930

208.85phones CSL, CM, PW, CHVERIZON WIRELESS50850Printed07/07/202357931

197.16fire department wireless/phoneVERIZON WIRELESS50850Printed07/07/202357932
116.09171-576572 WWTP internetVYVE10731Printed07/07/202357933

171.09172-576567 internet 5915DunsVYVE10731Printed07/07/202357934

400.47billing for July2023ADVANCED INFOSYSTEMS514Printed07/14/202357935

1,155.0023-24 ACIP Crime RenewalALLIANT INSURANCE 
SERVICES,INC

9999992303Printed07/14/202357936

82.70new inner tube truck#320ANTHONY CATLETT9885Printed07/14/202357937

13



City of Dunsmuir

Check Register Report

Check 
Date

Check 
Number

Status Amount

7.20.23 council meeting

BANK: 

Vendor 
Number

Vendor Name Check Description

U.S. BANK 2Page:
 2:59 pmTime:

07/17/2023Date:

Void/Stop 
Date

Reconcile 
Date

U.S. BANK Checks

160.565 WW Lift station alarmsAT&T1910Printed07/14/202357938

403.18PH4 buffer solution caseBORGES & MAHONEY4050Printed07/14/202357939

38.74BLDG STD ADM  SPC RVLVGCALIFORNIA BLDG STANDARDS 
COMM

99016Printed07/14/202357940

115.50July 2nd to July 11th CleaningREBECCA CATLETT 5325Printed07/14/202357941

2,160.00wtr dep retrn acct24593PurcellCITY OF DUNSMUIR9820Printed07/14/202357943

60.28SMITS April - June 2023DEPT OF CONSERVATION8600Printed07/14/202357944
920.00June 2023 Tauhindauli parkDUNSMUIR RECREATION 

DISTRICT
9393Printed07/14/202357945

376.28Hardware supply June2023DUNSMUIR TRUE VALUE9850Printed07/14/202357946
217.09nitrile glovesEMERGENCY MEDICAL 

PRODUCTS,INC
12122Printed07/14/202357947

1,159.10orange bagsINTERSTATE SALES22145Printed07/14/202357948

1,327.80Fire Dep Fuel June2023MANFREDI'S DEPOT31212Printed07/14/202357949

187.68DI water for LabMT SHASTA SPRING WATER 
CO

33146Printed07/14/202357950

78.52drinking water weekly testPACE ANALYTICAL SERVICES, 
LLC

10753Printed07/14/202357951

20.00Lien Release 6290 Hilltop drSISKIYOU CO. RECORDER9942Printed07/14/202357952

500.00MOU July 2023SISKIYOU COUNTY EDC47659Printed07/14/202357953

5,462.50April and May2023 PlanningTINSMAN, RICHARD10613Printed07/14/202357954

396.0620ft 3 wire SPDT NONCUSA BLUE BOOK, INC53806Printed07/14/202357955
1,500.00Utility billing postageUSPS9318Printed07/14/202357956

423,657.86Checks Total (excluding void checks):66Total Checks:

423,657.86Bank Total (excluding void checks):66Total Payments:

Grand Total (excluding void checks):Total Payments: 66 423,657.86

14



Page 1 

City of Dunsmuir 

STAFF REPORT 

RE:   Non-union Pay Resolution MEETING DATE:  
July 20, 2023 

SUBMITTED BY:  Dustin J. Rief, City Manager 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:   Information only       Discussion      Action Item 

WHAT IS BEING ASKED OF THE CITY COUNCIL: To review and approve the pay authorization resolution for non-
union employees. 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  In the past the city approved the pay of non-union employees as a part of the 
union MOU. Best practice is to separate these actions as it is for 2 separate groups of employees. In this change 
from the removal from the MOU staff made a small oversite by not placing a resolution on the agenda to 
approve non-union staff pay, in coordination with the city budget and the union MOU. This resolution reflects 
the same cost of living increase as the union staff. All costs associated are budgeted as a part of the Approved 
2023- 2024 budget. Staff recommends approval 

OPTIONS: 

1. Approve the Non-union Pay Resolution
2. Direct staff to make adjustments and bring back to a later meeting

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 None  Yes  Budgeted Item?   Yes    No 

Budget Adjustment Needed?   Yes  No   If yes, amount of appropriation increase:  

Affected fund(s):  General Fund  Water OM Fund    Sewer OM Fund    Other:  

Comments: The costs association with this action are in the approved budget. 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS: Motion to Approve the Non-union pay resolution for 2023-2024 Fiscal Year. 

15



Non-Union Pay Resolution FY 2023-2024 

RESOLUTION NO: 

WHEREAS, the City Manager is responsible for presenting pay adjustments for City employees not covered 
under Union Memorandum of understandings; and 

WHEREAS, sufficient funds have been appropriated in the FY2023- 2024 buget to fund the recommended pay 
adjustments and other matters of compensation as herein specified. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOVED, by the Dunsmuir City Council as follows: 

1. That the City’s non-union pay scale be increased and aligned with pay scales for union employees.
2. The City’s benefit plan contribution for non-union employees will be $150 for single coverage and $300 for

family.
3. That all city employees using their own vehicles for approved work-related business shall be compensated

at a rate allowed by the IRS.

CERTIFICATION 

I do hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true, and correct copy of a resolution duly and regularly adopted 
at a meeting of the City of Dunsmuir held on July 20, 2023 by the following vote: 

AYES: __________________________________________________________ 

NOES: __________________________________________________________ 

EXCUSED:__________________________________________________________ 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ ______________________________ 
City Clerk, Wendy Perkins  Mayor, Juliana Lucchesi 

2023-11

16



7/1/2023 

  Prior year base 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

City Manager 
45.67 48.46 51.41 54.55 57.88 61.41 63.77 66.95 

Finance Director 
31.25 33.16 35.18 36.45 38.27 40.18 42.19 44.30 

Fire Chief 
26.44 28.05 29.76 33.87 35.56 37.34 39.21 41.17 

Public Works Director 
31.27 33.18 35.20 37.35 39.63 42.04 44.61 45.91 

 
   
   

 

17



  Page 1  

City of Dunsmuir 
 
 
 

STAFF REPORT 

RE:   Fuels Mitigation Support MEETING DATE:  
July 20, 2023 

 

SUBMITTED BY:   Dustin J. Rief, City Manager 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:        Information only       Discussion      Action Item 

 

WHAT IS BEING ASKED OF THE CITY COUNCIL: To discuss and review proposed assistance to Assist Fire Safe 
Committee for neighborhood chip day grant 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  Lynda Schaben with the Fire Safe Committee and Fuels Mitigation Project for 
Dunsmuir is asking for staff assistance and city support to assist in coordinating communications and being the 
lead agency for no match grants for fire mitigation through the Ford Family Foundation. They are requesting 
support for up to 3 neighborhood mitigation workdays with the use of the City’s chipper and/or large roll-off 
dumpster. If this neighborhood engagement is successful it would potentially get the city additional money for a 
City neighborhood chipping program.  

OPTIONS:  

1. Approve the Assistance request consisting of staff time and city resources. 
2. Do not approve assistance. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 None  Yes  Budgeted Item?   Yes    No 

Budget Adjustment Needed?   Yes    No   If yes, amount of appropriation increase:   

Affected fund(s):  General Fund    Water OM Fund    Sewer OM Fund    Other:  

Comments:  

SUGGESTED MOTIONS: Motion to Approve assistance for Fire Mitigation Efforts in the City of Dunsmuir with 
the Fire Safe Committee.  

 

  

18



 

  Page 1   

CITY OF Dunsmuir 
 
 

 
WHAT IS BEING ASKED OF THE CITY COUNCIL: 

Accept and file Audit for fiscal year ended 6/30/2022 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:   

Each year city must have the financial statements audited by an independent Auditor. Charlie Pillon is the 
City Auditor. Charlie presented the Audit to Finance Committee. In addition to Charlie’s opinion that the 
financial statements are “presented fairly,” he provided the point below which staff agrees and will work to 
remedy. 
 

• “Finding 2022-001” – material audit adjustments were proposed because monthly and annual 
statement close and reporting are not being completed which could affect reported financial 
information throughout the year. The recommendation is increased training. Blake and Charlie have 
training scheduled to help remedy this finding as well as hiring a third-party CPA to help with the audit. 

• “Finding 2022-002” – written policies and procedures regarding grant management. City Council 
recently adopted a grant management policy. Staff will work to be trained on the policy and procedures. 

 
Charlie also mentioned; 
 

• GASB 87 leases, estimated interest rate used was 4%, show full amount of lease on balance sheet 
• Journal entry adjustments – heard about some of the journal entries needed 
• Prior period adjustments – revenue recognized and not recognized because it wasn’t received 
• Combined CDBG funds 
• Water project subsequent event – contingency portion of project 
• GASB 101 leave pay – will need to show on balance sheet 
• GASB 96 software as a service (SAAS) show on balance sheet 
• Corrective action plan – compliance policy, more training, work more efficiently with outside CPA 
• Audit findings – compliance policy, more training, work more efficiently with outside CPA 

 
OPTIONS: 
FISCAL IMPACT: 

 None  Yes  Budgeted Item?   Yes    No 

Budget Adjustment Needed?   Yes    No  If yes, amount of appropriation increase:  

Affected fund(s):  General Fund    Water OM Fund    Sewer OM Fund    Other:  

Comments: SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  Motion to accept and file Audit for fiscal year ended 6/30/2023. 

    Attachments: 6/30/20 Audit 

 

STAFF REPORT 

RE:   Acceptance of Audit MEETING DATE: 7/20/2023  

SUBMITTED BY:   Blake Michaelsen, Finance Director 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:        Information only       Discussion      Action Item 

19



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CITY OF DUNSMUIR, CALIFORNIA 
 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

and 
 

SINGLE AUDIT REPORTS 
 

JUNE 30, 2022 
 
 

 
  

20



City of Dunsmuir, California 
Table of Contents 

June 30, 2022 

 

 

                                                                                                                               Page No. 

FINANCIAL SECTION: 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ........................................................................................................ 1 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS: 

 Government-wide Financial Statements: 
    Statement of Net Position ....................................................................................................................... 4 
    Statement of Activities ............................................................................................................................ 5 

 Fund Financial Statements: 
 Governmental Funds: 
  Balance Sheet and Reconciliation of Governmental Fund Balance 
   to the Statement of Net Position – Governmental Activities, Governmental Funds ............................ 6 
  Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in  
   Fund Balance – Governmental Funds ................................................................................................ 7 
  Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
   Fund Balance to the Statement of Activities – Governmental Funds ................................................. 8 

 Proprietary Funds: 
  Statement of Net Position – Proprietary Funds ...................................................................................... 9 
  Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position – Proprietary Funds ...................... 10 
  Statement of Cash Flows – Proprietary Funds ..................................................................................... 11 

 Notes to the Basic Financial Statements ................................................................................................. 12 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (other than MD&A) – UNAUDITED: 

 Budgetary Comparison Schedules (Major Funds): 
General Fund ........................................................................................................................................ 35 
Community Development Block Grant Fund. ....................................................................................... 36 

   Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plans: 
   Schedule of the Local Government’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability……………….37  
  Schedule the Local Government’s Plan Contributions. ........................................................................ 38 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: 

 Combining Balance Sheet – Non-Major Governmental Funds ............................................................... 39 
 Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
  Fund Balance – Non-Major Governmental Funds ................................................................................ 40 

SINGLE AUDIT AND OTHER SCHEDULES AND REPORTS: 

 Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on  
 Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in  
 Accordance with Government Auditing Standards .................................................................................. 41 
   Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and on Internal  
   Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance ................................................................. 43 
   Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards .......................................................................................... 45 
   Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ..................................................................... 46 
   Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs ........................................................................................... 47 
   Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings ............................................................................................. 49 
   Corrective Action Plan .............................................................................................................................. 50 
 
 
 

21



 

1 
 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the City Council and 
Those Charged with Governance 
City of Dunsmuir, California 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinions 

I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Dunsmuir, California 
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the City of Dunsmuir, California’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents. 

In my opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Dunsmuir, California as of June 30, 2022, and the 
respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

I conducted my audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. My responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my 
report. I am required to be independent of the City of Dunsmuir, California and to meet my other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to my audit. I believe that the 
audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinions. 

Change in Accounting Principle 

As described in Note 15 to the financial statements, in 2022, the City adopted new accounting guidance, 
GASB Statement No. 87, Leases . My opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City of Dunsmuir, California’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
my opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and 
therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 
standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually 
or in aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial 
statements. 
 

22



 

2 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued) 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing 
Standards, I: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City of Dunsmuir, California’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in my judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the City of Dunsmuir, California’s ability to continue as a going concern 
for a reasonable period of time. 

I am required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 
that I identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis (not presented), the budgetary comparison information on pages 35-36 and the 
pension disclosure schedules on pages 37-38 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. I have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to my inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge I obtained during my audit 
of the basic financial statements. I do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide me with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide 
any assurance. 

Supplementary Information 

My audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City of Dunsmuir, California’s basic financial statements. The accompanying combining and 
individual nonmajor fund financial statements on pages 39-40 and schedule of expenditures of federal 
awards on page 45, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, are presented 
for the purpose of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In my opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund 
financial statements and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.  
 

23



 

3 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued) 

Other Information 

Management has omitted Management’s Discussion and Analysis that accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such missing information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. My opinion on the basic financial statements is not affected 
by this missing information. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, I have also issued my report dated June 26, 2023, on 
my consideration of the City of Dunsmuir, California's internal control over financial reporting and on my 
tests of its compliance with certain provision of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of my testing of internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City of Dunsmuir, California’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. 
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in 
considering City of Dunsmuir, California's internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
Charles W. Pillon, CPA 
Anderson, California 

June 26, 2023 

24



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

25



Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS
Cash and investments  $        1,545,967  $             525,882  $  2,071,849 
Receivables (net of allowances for bad

debts, where applicable):
Trade accounts                   2,539                   43,577           46,116 
Loans               876,267                             -         876,267 
Intergovernmental               703,267              2,323,376      3,026,643 
Leases            1,624,069                   66,808      1,690,877 

Internal balances                 68,399                  (68,399)                     - 
Other assets                   1,552                             -             1,552 
Restricted cash and investments                           -                 241,361         241,361 
Capital assets:

Non-depreciable            1,235,151            12,436,721    13,671,872 
Depreciable, net            2,238,862            14,334,738    16,573,600 

Total Assets            8,296,073            29,904,064    38,200,137 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows from pensions               188,068                 140,973         329,041 

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable               280,677                 436,963         717,640 
Accrued liabilities                   8,470                     4,344           12,814 
Unearned revenue                        10                     7,275             7,285 
Deposits                 18,263                   32,465           50,728 
Long-term liabilities, due within one year:

Notes payable and interest payable                   5,000                 181,390         186,390 
Compensated absences                 26,735                   48,256           74,991 

Due in more than one year:
Notes payable                 61,000              8,414,272      8,475,272 
Compensated absences                   1,681                   41,909           43,590 
Net pension liability               489,906                 384,507         874,413 

Total Liabilities               891,742              9,551,381    10,443,123 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflows from pensions               414,434                 369,485         783,919 

Deferred inflows from leases            1,562,661                   65,309      1,627,970 

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources            1,977,095                 434,794      2,411,889 

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets            3,408,013            18,247,725    21,655,738 
Restricted               251,176                 241,361         492,537 
Unrestricted            1,956,115              1,569,776      3,525,891 

Total Net Position  $        5,615,304  $        20,058,862  $25,674,166 

CITY OF DUNSMUIR
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2022

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

426



Operating Capital Business-
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental Type

Expense Services Contributions Contributions Activities Activities Total

Governmental Activities
General government  $     424,179  $      200,254  $          414,327  $                     -  $           190,402  $                 -  $     190,402 
Public safety      1,082,018          310,470              164,465                         -              (607,083)                     -        (607,083)
Streets and roads         411,735              8,035              197,837              209,201                   3,338                     -             3,338 
Community and economic development         444,045                     -              307,472                83,000                (53,573)                     -          (53,573)

Total Governmental Activities      2,361,977          518,759           1,084,101              292,201              (466,916)                     -        (466,916)

Business-Type Activities
Sewer      1,089,601          982,169                         -                  9,741                           -          (97,691)          (97,691)
Solid waste         512,681          402,501                  5,000                         -                           -        (105,180)        (105,180)
Water         896,216          973,779                         -           2,313,494                           -      2,391,057      2,391,057 
Airport         208,574            33,800                10,000              380,660                           -         215,886         215,886 

Total Business-Type Activities      2,707,072       2,392,249                15,000           2,703,895                           -      2,404,072      2,404,072 

Total Primary Government  $  5,069,049  $   2,911,008  $       1,099,101  $       2,996,096              (466,916)      2,404,072      1,937,156 

General Revenues
Taxes:
     Property               342,450                     -         342,450 
     Sales               304,103                     -         304,103 
     Transient occupancy               324,351                     -         324,351 
Investment earnings                 21,411             2,262           23,673 
Lease interest revenue                 59,422             2,279           61,701 
Lease revenue                 59,910             2,530           62,440 
Other               108,433                     -         108,433 
Gain on sale of assets                   5,550             2,700             8,250 
Transfers in (out)                   8,689            (8,689)                     - 

Total General Revenues            1,234,319             1,082      1,235,401 

Changes in Net Position               767,403      2,405,154      3,172,557 

Net position, beginning, as reported            4,829,881    17,653,708    22,483,589 
Prior period adjustment                 18,020                     -           18,020 

Net Position, Beginning, restated            4,847,901    17,653,708    22,501,609 

Net Position, Ending  $         5,615,304  $20,058,862  $25,674,166 

CITY OF DUNSMUIR
Statement of Activities

For The Year Ended June 30, 2022

Program Revenues
Net (Expense) Revenues and

Changes in Net Position

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

527



Community
Development Other Total

General Project Income Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Funds Funds

ASSETS
Cash and investments  $  1,268,186  $              182,083  $               95,698  $         1,545,967 
Receivables, net of allowance

Trade             2,539                              -                             -                    2,539 
Loans                     -                  876,267                             -                876,267 
Intergovernmental         556,640                    86,099                   60,528                703,267 
Leases      1,624,069                              -                             -             1,624,069 

Due from other funds           68,399                              -                             -                  68,399 
Prepaid expenses             1,552                              -                             -                    1,552 

Total Assets  $  3,521,385  $           1,144,449  $             156,226  $         4,822,060 

Liabilities
Accounts payable  $     175,602  $              101,868  $                 3,207  $            280,677 
Accrued liabilities             8,470                              -                             -                    8,470 
Unearned revenue                  10                              -                             -                         10 
Deposits           18,263                              -                             -                  18,263 

Total Liabilities         202,345                  101,868                     3,207                307,420 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred revenue - unavailable         130,087                    19,899                   48,258                198,244 
Deferred inflows from leases      1,562,661                              -                             -             1,562,661 

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources      1,692,748                    19,899                   48,258             1,760,905 

Fund Balances
Nonspendable:

Prepaid expenses             1,552                              -                             -                    1,552 
Noncurrent receivables                     -                  876,267                             -                876,267 

Total nonspendable             1,552                  876,267                             -                877,819 

Restricted for:
Streets and roads                     -                              -                   58,077                  58,077 
Public safety                     -                              -                   46,684                  46,684 
Community and economic development                     -                  146,415                             -                146,415 

Total restricted                     -                  146,415                 104,761                251,176 

Unassigned balance (deficit)      1,624,740                              -                             -             1,624,740 

Total Fund Balances      1,626,292               1,022,682                 104,761             2,753,735 

 $  3,521,385  $           1,144,449  $             156,226  $         4,822,060 

Total Governmental Fund Balance, as above  $         2,753,735 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net assets are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and
therefore not reported in the funds             3,474,013 

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the 
current period and therefore are not reported in the funds                (66,000)

Pension liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are
not reported on the balance sheet              (489,906)

Compensated absenses in governmental activities are not due and payable
in the current period and therefore are not reported in the balance sheet                (28,416)

Deferred outflows and inflows are not receivable or due and payable in the current
 period and therefore are not reported on the balance sheet Pensions              (226,366)

Unavailable                198,244 

Net Position of Governmental Activities  $         5,615,304 

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND 
FUND BALANCES

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund 
Balances

CITY OF DUNSMUIR
Balance Sheet

June 30, 2022
Governmental Funds

Reconciliation of Governmental Fund Balance to the Statement of Net Position - Governmental Activities

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

628



Community
Development Other Total

General Block Grant Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Funds Funds

REVENUES
Property taxes  $   342,450  $                      -  $                       -  $           342,450 
Sales and use taxes       304,103                          -                           -               304,103 
Transient occupancy taxes       324,351                          -                           -               324,351 
Franchises         44,609                          -                           -                 44,609 
Assessments                   -                          -                 35,338                 35,338 
Licenses and permits         90,602                          -                           -                 90,602 
Intergovernmental revenues       570,539                  1,513               143,206               715,258 
Coronavirus fiscal recovery funds       187,071                          -                           -               187,071 
Coronavirus Round 1 Microenterprise assistance                   -              280,092                           -               280,092 
Coronavirus Round 2 Microenterprise assistance                   -                  5,968                           -                   5,968 
Charges for services       304,603                          -                           -               304,603 
Fines, forfeitures and penalties         43,607                          -                           -                 43,607 
Use of money and property         12,735                  8,653                        23                 21,411 
Lease interest revenue         59,422                          -                           -                 59,422 
Lease revenue         59,910                          -                           -                 59,910 
Other       104,867                          -                   3,566               108,433 

Total Revenues    2,448,869              296,226               182,133            2,927,228 

EXPENDITURES
Current:

City council           7,692                          -                           -                   7,692 
City administrator         56,024                          -                           -                 56,024 
City clerk         39,562                          -                           -                 39,562 
City attorney         14,666                          -                           -                 14,666 
Planning       122,838                          -                           -               122,838 
Finance and administration         98,673                          -                           -                 98,673 
Police protection       414,041                          -                           -               414,041 
Code enforcement and animal regulation       124,418                          -                           -               124,418 
Fire protection       397,536                          -                   9,522               407,058 
Streets and roads         92,569                          -                 93,893               186,462 
Transit assistance                   -                          -                 43,461                 43,461 
Buildings and grounds       108,580                          -                           -               108,580 
Community and economic development         93,450              349,541                           -               442,991 

Capital outlay       353,887                          -                   1,458               355,345 
Bad debt expense           1,054                          -                           -                   1,054 
Debt service:

Principal                   -                          -                   5,000                   5,000 
Interest                   -                          -                   4,110                   4,110 

Total Expenditures    1,924,990              349,541               157,444            2,431,975 

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures       523,879               (53,315)                 24,689               495,253 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from sale of assets           5,550                          -                           -                   5,550 
Operating transfers in (out)          (9,140)              254,703              (236,874)                   8,689 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)          (3,590)              254,703              (236,874)                 14,239 

Changes in Fund Balances       520,289              201,388              (212,185)               509,492 

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of Year, as reported    1,098,314              821,294               316,946            2,236,554 
Prior period adjustment           7,689                          -                           -                   7,689 

Beginning of Year, as restated    1,106,003              821,294               316,946            2,244,243 

End of Year  $1,626,292  $       1,022,682  $           104,761  $        2,753,735 

CITY OF DUNSMUIR

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - Governmental Funds

For The Year Ended June 30, 2022

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

729



Change in Fund Balance of Governmental Funds  $   509,492 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
is different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.  However, in the
Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense:

Capital outlay       355,345 
Depreciation expense     (202,242)

Certain revenues received after ninety (90) days after year-end are recorded as
deferred revenue - unavailable in the governmental funds, but are reported as
revenues in the Statement of Activities       187,913 

Government funds report repayment of long-term debt as an expenditure,
but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net
Assets and does not affect the Statement of Activities           5,000 

Government funds do not report the change in compensated absences as 
revenue or (expenditure), but it is reported in the Statement of Activities         27,493 

Government funds do not report the decrease of unfunded pension oblications
revenue or (expenditure), but it is reported in the Statement of Activities     (115,598)

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities  $   767,403 

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
CITY OF DUNSMUIR

For The Year Ended June 30, 2022
Governmental Funds

Changes in Fund Balance to the Statement of Activities

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

830



Sewer Solid Waste Water Airport
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

ASSETS
Cash and investments  $    135,395  $                  -    $    380,888  $        9,599  $       525,882 
Receivables (net of allowances for bad

 debts, where applicable):
Trade accounts          22,930                8,530          12,117                    -             43,577 
Intergovernmental            8,241                        -     2,268,788          46,347        2,323,376 
Leases                    -                        -                    -          66,808             66,808 

Due from other funds                    -                        -                    -                    -                       - 
Restricted cash and investments        181,982                        -          59,379                    -           241,361 
Capital assets:

Non-depreciable     1,130,481                        -     9,778,103     1,528,137      12,436,721 
Depreciable, net     7,147,572                1,239     4,138,586     3,047,341      14,334,738 

Total Assets     8,626,601                9,769   16,637,861     4,698,232      29,972,463 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred outflows from pensions          72,323              23,777          43,399            1,474           140,973 

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable            4,169                9,651        419,264            3,879           436,963 
Accrued liabilities            2,030                   517            1,637               160               4,344 
Unearned revenue            2,175                        -                    -            5,100               7,275 
Deposits               121                        -          31,944               400             32,465 
Due to other funds                    -                        -            5,000          63,399             68,399 
Long-term liabilities, due within one year:

Notes payable and interest payable        138,423                        -          41,102            1,865           181,390 
Compensated absences          20,767                3,159          23,041            1,289             48,256 

Due in more than one year:
Notes payable     1,960,589                        -     6,430,070          23,613        8,414,272 
Compensated absences          30,818                      -            11,091                    -             41,909 

Net pension liability        197,263              64,853        118,371            4,020           384,507 

Total Liabilities     2,356,355              78,180     7,081,520        103,725        9,619,780 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflows from pensions        189,556              62,320        113,746            3,863           369,485 

Deferred inflows from leases                  -                          -                  -            65,309             65,309 

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources        189,556              62,320        113,746          69,172           434,794 

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets     6,203,389                1,239     7,467,619     4,575,478      18,247,725 
Restricted for debt service        181,982                        -          59,379                    -           241,361 
Unrestricted      (232,358)          (108,193)     1,958,996         (48,669)        1,569,776 

Total Net Position  $ 6,153,013  $      (106,954)  $ 9,485,994  $ 4,526,809  $  20,058,862 

CITY OF DUNSMUIR
Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds

June 30, 2022

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

9
31



Sewer Solid Waste Water Airport
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

REVENUES
User fees and charges  $    982,169  $        402,501  $    973,779  $                -  $    2,358,449 
Facilities rent                    -                        -                    -          33,800             33,800 
Lease revenue                    -                        -                    -            2,530               2,530 

Total Operating Revenues        982,169            402,501        973,779          36,330        2,394,779 

OPERATING EXPENSES
Cost of power and water          45,785                        -            9,673            2,431             57,889 
Maintenance, operations, and administration        678,381            510,095        607,071          42,721        1,838,268 
Depreciation and amortization        297,330                   219        173,890        161,543           632,982 
Bad debt expense            7,411                2,367               973                    -             10,751 

Total Operating Expenses     1,028,907            512,681        791,607        206,695        2,539,890 

Operating Income (Loss)         (46,738)          (110,180)        182,172      (170,365)          (145,111)

OTHER REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Intergovernmental revenues            9,741                5,000     2,313,494        390,660        2,718,895 
Interest earned                 70                   221            1,971                    -               2,262 
Lease interest revenue                    -                        -                    -            2,279               2,279 
Interest expense         (60,694)                        -      (104,609)           (1,879)          (167,182)
Gain on sale of assets                    -                        -            2,700                    -               2,700 

Total Other Revenues (Expenses)         (50,883)                5,221     2,213,556        391,060        2,558,954 

Net Income (Loss) Before Transfers         (97,621)          (104,959)     2,395,728        220,695        2,413,843 

TRANSFERS
Transfers in (out)           (8,689)                        -                    -                    -              (8,689)

Change in Net Position      (106,310)          (104,959)     2,395,728        220,695        2,405,154 

NET POSITION

Beginning of Year     6,259,323               (1,995)     7,090,266     4,306,114      17,653,708 

End of Year  $ 6,153,013  $      (106,954)  $ 9,485,994  $ 4,526,809  $  20,058,862 

CITY OF DUNSMUIR
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Funds
For The Year Ended June 30, 2022

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

10
32



Sewer Solid Waste Water Airport
Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers  $    985,619  $        405,780  $    974,116  $      35,695  $    2,401,210 
Payments to suppliers      (410,383)          (452,148)      (265,546)         (24,777)       (1,152,854)
Payments to employees      (313,445)             (66,015)      (340,732)         (20,919)          (741,111)

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities        261,791          (112,383)        367,838         (10,001)           507,245 

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Receipt of intergovernmental revenue                    -                5,000                    -          66,892             71,892 
Principal payments on debt                    -                        -                    -           (1,822)              (1,822)
Interest payments on debt                    -                        -                    -           (1,879)              (1,879)
Interfund transfers and repayments           (2,566)                        -                    -      (133,093)          (135,659)

          (2,566)                5,000                    -         (69,902)            (67,468)

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING
Receipt of intergovernmental revenues 

used for capital asset purchases            1,332                        -        438,399        482,330           922,061 
Purchase of capital assets           (7,215)               (1,458)   (5,079,914)      (396,297)       (5,484,884)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets                    -                        -            2,700                    -               2,700 
Proceeds from capital debt                    -                        -     3,447,519                    -        3,447,519 
Principal payments on debt      (111,605)                        -         (18,000)                    -          (129,605)
Interest payments on debt         (62,138)                        -         (87,558)                    -          (149,696)

Net Cash (Used) by Investing Activities      (179,626)               (1,458)   (1,296,854)          86,033       (1,391,905)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest income received                 70                   221            1,971            3,309               5,571 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash          79,669          (108,620)      (927,045)            9,439          (946,557)

CASH
Beginning of Year        237,708            108,620     1,367,312               160        1,713,800 

End of Year  $    317,377  $                    -  $    440,267  $        9,599  $       767,243 

Comprised of:
Cash and investments  $    135,395  $                    -  $    380,888  $        9,599  $       525,882 
Restricted cash and investments        181,982                        -          59,379                    -           241,361 

Total Cash and Cash Investments  $    317,377  $                    -  $    440,267  $        9,599  $       767,243 

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to cash
provided (used) by operating activities:
Operating income (loss)  $    (46,738)  $      (110,180)  $    182,172  $  (170,365)  $      (145,111)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to

cash provided (used) by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization        297,330                   219        173,890        161,543           632,982 
(Increase) decrease in accounts

 receivable, net            3,755                3,279           (2,028)              (854)               4,152 
Decrease in deferred outflows from pensions            9,466                3,113            5,680               193             18,452 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable         (19,310)             (12,968)           (6,343)              (156)            (38,777)
Increase (decrease) in compensated absences           (1,385)               (2,085)               715              (948)              (3,703)
Increase (decrease) in deposits and other liabilities              (305)                        -            2,365                (19)               2,041 
Increase in unearned revenue                    -                        -                    -            2,748               2,748 
(Decrease) in net pension liability      (149,139)             (49,033)         (89,494)           (3,040)          (290,706)
Increase in deferred inflows from pensions        168,117              55,272        100,881            3,426           327,696 
(Decrease) in deferred inflows from leases                    -                        -                    -           (2,529)              (2,529)

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities  $    261,791  $      (112,383)  $    367,838  $    (10,001)  $       507,245 

Note regarding operating activities
The respective change in accounts payable does

 not reflect the purchase of capital assets  $                -  $                    -  $    408,860  $        3,877  $       412,737 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Non-Capital Financing 
Activities

Proprietary Funds
For The Year Ended June 30, 2022

CITY OF DUNSMUIR
Statement of Cash Flows

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

11
33



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

12 
 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Reporting Entity 
 
The City of Dunsmuir, California (hereafter “the City”) operates under a City Council – City Manager form 
of government and provides the following services: public safety, streets and roads, water and sewer, 
culture and recreation, public improvements, planning and zoning, and general administrative services. 
 
The accounting policies of the City conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America as applicable to governmental entities. The following is a summary of the more significant 
polices. 
 
The City’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP).  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is responsible for establishing GAAP for 
state and local governments through its pronouncements (Statements and Interpretations). The more 
significant accounting policies established in GAAP and used by the City are discussed below. 
 
The financial statements of the City include all of the financial activities of the City. In evaluating how to 
define the City, for financial reporting purposes, management has considered all potential component units.  
The decision to include a potential component unit in the reporting entity was made by applying the criteria 
set forth in GAAP. The basic - but not the only - criterion for including a potential component unit within the 
reporting entity is the governing body's ability to exercise oversight responsibility. The most significant 
manifestation of this ability is financial interdependency. Other manifestations of the ability to exercise 
oversight responsibility include, but are not limited to, the selection of governing authority, the designation 
of management, the ability to significantly influence operations and accountability for fiscal matters. The 
other criterion used to evaluate potential component units for inclusion or exclusion from the reporting entity 
is the existence of special financing relationships, regardless of whether the City is able to exercise 
oversight responsibilities. Based upon the application of these criteria, the City does not have any 
component units. 
 
B. Basis of Presentation 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements: 
 
The statement of net position and statement of activities include the financial activities of the overall 
government, except for fiduciary activities. Eliminations have been made to minimize the double counting 
of internal activities. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type activities 
of the City. Governmental activities are reported separately from business-type activities (such as sewer, 
solid waste, water, and airport). 
 
The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for each 
different identifiable activity of the City’s business-type activities and for each function of the City’s 
governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or 
function and therefore are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include charges 
paid by recipients of goods and services offered by the program, and grants and contributions that are 
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are not 
classified as program revenues are presented instead as general revenues. 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted net position are available, restricted resources are depleted first 
before the unrestricted resources are used. 
 
 
 
 

34



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

13 
 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Fund Financial Statements: 
 
Fund financial statements of the City are organized into funds, each of which is considered to be a separate 
accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that 
constitute its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures/expenses. Funds are organized 
into three major categories: governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary. An emphasis is placed on major funds 
within the governmental and proprietary categories. A fund is considered major if it is the primary operating 
fund of the City or meets the following criteria: 
 
 Total assets, liabilities, revenues or expenditure/expenses of that individual governmental or enterprise 

fund are at least 10 percent of the corresponding total for all funds of that category type; and 
 
 Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures/expenses for the individual governmental or 

enterprise fund are at least 5 percent of the corresponding total for all governmental and enterprise 
funds combined. 

 
The funds of the City are described below: 
 
Major Governmental Funds: 
 
The General Fund is the general operating fund of the City. It is used to account for all financial resources 
except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 
 
The Community Development Block Grant Fund (CDBG) accounts for the financing of home rehabilitation 
and economic development, as financed by monies passed through the State by the federal government. 
 
Major Proprietary Funds: 
 
The Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar 
to a private business enterprise where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses) of 
providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily 
through user charges, or where the governing body has decided that periodic determination of revenues 
earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, 
management control, accountability, or other purposes. 
 
The Sewer Fund was established to account for the operations of the City’s sewer utility, a self-supporting 
activity which renders a service on a user charge basis to residents and businesses within the City. 
 
The Solid Waste Fund was established to account refuse collection, a self-supporting activity which renders 
a service on a user charge basis to residents and businesses within the City. 
 
The Water Fund was established to account for the operations of the City’s water utility, a self-supporting 
activity which renders a service on a user charge basis to residents and businesses within the City. 
 
The Airport Fund was established to account for the operations of Mott Field. 
 
Additionally, the City reports the following non-major governmental funds: 
 
Local Transportation Fund: Established to account for the construction and maintenance of the streets and 
roads of the City, as well as to provide mass transit, as financed from “Transportation Development Act” 
monies passed through the County of Siskiyou by the State. 
 

35



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

14 
 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Gas Tax Funds (2103, 2106, 2107, 2107.5, 2107SR) and SB1 RMRA Fund: Established to account for the 
construction and maintenance of the streets and roads of the City as financed by gas taxes received from 
the State. 
 
Fire Assessment Fund: Established to provide for fire apparatus and equipment and replacement thereof 
as needed by the Dunsmuir Fire Department. The Dunsmuir Fire Department is volunteer department 
with the exception of Fire Chief. The assessment district was not established to pay for volunteer costs 
which are none. 
 
Economic Development Block Grant (EDBG) Fund: Accounts for the financing of businesses, as financed 
by monies passed through the State by the federal government. This fund was closed into the CDBG Fund 
during this fiscal year. 
 
South Dunsmuir Sewer Assessment Fund: Established to account for assessments levied against certain 
property owners for the purpose of payment of long-term bonds issued for improvements of the sewer 
system. 
 
C. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
 
Measurement focus is a term used to describe “which” transactions are recorded within the various financial 
statements.  Basis of accounting refers to “when” transactions are recorded regardless of the measurement 
focus applied. 
 
Measurement Focus: 
 
In the government-wide statements, both governmental and business-type activities are presented using 
the economic resources measurement focus as defined below. 
 
In the fund financial statements, the current financial resources measurement focus or the economic 
resources measurement focus is used as appropriate. 
 
All governmental funds utilize a current financial resources measurement focus. Only current financial 
assets and liabilities are generally included on their balance sheets. Their operating statements present 
resources and uses of available spendable financial resources during a given period. These funds use fund 
balance as their measure of available spendable financial resources at the end of the year. 
 
All proprietary (enterprise) funds utilize an economic resources measurement focus. The accounting 
objectives of this measurement focus are the determination of operating income, changes in net position 
(or cost recovery), financial position, and cash flows. All assets and liabilities (whether current or 
noncurrent) associated with their activities are reported. Proprietary fund equity is classified as a net asset. 
 
Fiduciary (agency) funds are not involved in the measurement of results of operations; therefore, 
measurement focus in not applicable to them. 

Basis of Accounting: 
 
In the government-wide statements, both governmental and business-type activities are presented using 
the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when 
earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, 
expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from exchange and exchange-like transactions are 
recognized when the exchange takes place. 
 

36



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

15 
 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental and agency funds are presented on the modified accrual 
basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when 
measurable and available. Measurable means knowing or being able to reasonably estimate the amount.  
Available means collectible within the current period or within 180 days after year end. Expenditures 
(including capital outlays) are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred. 
 
All proprietary funds utilize the accrual basis of accounting, as described above. 
 
D. Assets, Liabilities, Net Position or Fund Equity 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents: 
 
For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City considers as cash equivalents all highly liquid 
investments with a maturity at the date of purchase of three months or less. 
 
Investments: 
 
The City participates in the California Local Agency Investment Fund (“LAIF”). LAIF is an external 
investment pool through which local governments may pool investments. Investments in LAIF are highly 
liquid, as deposits can be converted to cash within 24 hours without the loss of interest. The fair value of 
the City’s portion of LAIF is materially the same as its value of the pool shares. The regulatory oversight of 
LAIF rests with the Local Agency Investment Board. 
 
Receivables: 
 
In the fund financial statements, material receivables in governmental funds are the same as those in the 
government-wide statements, since they are both measurable and available. Interest earnings are recorded 
when earned only if paid within 60 days since they would be considered both measurable and available. 
Proprietary fund material receivables consist of all revenues earned at year-end but not yet received.  
Allowances for uncollectible accounts receivable are based on historical trends, periodic aging of accounts 
receivable, and management’s detailed analysis of the composition of accounts receivable. 
 
Property Taxes: 
 
The County of Siskiyou assesses, bills, and collects property taxes for the City. Assessed values are 
determined annually by the Siskiyou County Assessor as of January 1, and become a lien on such property 
January 1. Taxes are due November 1 and February 1 (secured), and July 1 (unsecured) and are delinquent 
if not paid by December 10 and April 10 (secured), and August 31 (unsecured). The County is permitted by 
the State Constitution (Article XIII A) to levy taxes at 1% of the full market value of the property (at the time 
of purchase) and can increase a property’s assessed valuation by reappraisal due to new construction, 
change in ownership, or by increase in fair market value not to exceed a 2% each year. Property taxes 
collected by the County on behalf of the City but not remitted to the City by June 30 are accrued in revenue 
and included in other accounts receivable. 
 
Interfund Balances: 
 
During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds that may result in 
amounts owed between funds. These may include amounts relating to goods and services type 
transactions, and interfund loans. 
 
 
 

37



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 

16 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Restricted Assets: 

Certain resources set aside for the repayment of the City’s sewer and water funds long-term debt are 
classified as restricted assets on the statement of net position because they are maintained in separate 
bank accounts and their use is limited by applicable debt covenants. 

Capital Assets: 

The accounting treatment for property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets (capital assets) depends 
on whether the assets are used in governmental fund operations or proprietary fund operations and whether 
they are reported in the government-wide or fund financial statements. 

In the government-wide financial statements, property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets with a 
cost of $5,000 or more, and a useful life in excess of one year, are accounted for as capital assets. All 
capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not available, 
except donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated fair market value at the date of donation. 
Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the Statement of 
Activities, with accumulated depreciation reflected in the Statement of Net Position. Depreciation is provided 
over the assets’ estimated useful lives using the straight-line method of depreciation. The range of 
estimated useful lives by type of asset is as follows: 

 Utility plant 40 years 
 Buildings 20 to 40 years 
 Improvements not buildings 10 to 40 years 
 Machinery and equipment 5 to 40 years 
 Infrastructure 40 years 

In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are accounted for as 
capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. Capital assets used in proprietary 
fund operations are accounted for the same as in the government-wide statements. 

Donated Assets: 

Donated assets are recorded at fair market value at the time of donation. 

Compensated Absences: 

Vacation pay and compensated time off is vested to the employees as it accrues and is payable upon 
separation of service and therefore, have been accrued in the accompanying financial statements. Sick pay 
is vested to the employee as it accrued and is payable only upon retiring from employment with the City 
and all hours are payable except for the first one hundred and fifty (150) hours of the accrual which are 
returned to the City. 

Net Pension Asset/Liability: 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability and deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to 
pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Local Government of 
Example’s California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) plans (Plans) and additions 
to/deductions from the Plans’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are 
reported by CalPERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) 
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at 
fair value. 

38



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

17 
 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
Unearned Revenue: 
 
Unearned revenue represents monies received that has not yet been expended by the City and is not 
earned (as revenue) until it is properly expended. 
 
Long-Term Obligations: 
 
In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, 
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position.   
 
Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources: 
   
Deferred outflows of resources are defined as the current consumption of net assets that is applicable to a 
future reporting period while deferred inflows of resources are defined as the current acquisition of net 
assets that is applicable to a future reporting period. 
 
The deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources relate to the City’s pension plans, as 
well as deferred inflows related to leases under GASB 87. 
 
Equity Classifications: 
 
In the government–wide financial statements, equity is classified as net position and displayed as follows: 
 

Net investment in capital assets, which consist of capital assets net of accumulated depreciation 
and reduced by any outstanding balances of bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are 
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. 
 
Restricted net position, which consists of assets with constraints placed on the use either by 
external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other 
governments, or by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
Unrestricted net position, all other net position is reported in this category. 

 
Fund Balance Classification: 
 
The governmental fund financial statements present fund balances based on classifications that comprise 
a hierarchy that is based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to honor constraints on the 
specific purposes for which amounts in the respective governmental funds can be spent. The classifications 
used in the governmental fund financial statements are as follows: 

 Nonspendable: This classification includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are 
either (a) not in spendable form or (b) are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
Noncurrent receivables and prepaid expenses are classified as nonspendable fund balance. 

 Restricted: This classification includes amounts for which constraints have been placed on 
the use of the resources either (a) externally imposed by creditors (such as through a debt 
covenant), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, or (b) imposed by 
law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. The City has externally imposed 
restrictions for police, fire assessment funds, streets and roads, public transportation, and 
community development.   

39



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

18 
 

NOTE 1       SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Fund Balance Classification (Continued): 

 Committed: This classification includes amounts that can be used only for specific purposes 
pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action of the City Council. These amounts cannot be 
used for any other purpose unless the City Council removes or changes the specified use by taking 
the same type of action (ordinance or resolution) that was employed when the funds were initially 
committed. This classification also includes contractual obligations to the extent that existing 
resources have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements.  
The City did not have any committed resources as of June 30, 2022. 

 Assigned: This classification includes amounts that are constrained by the City’s intent to be 
used for a specific purpose but are neither restricted nor committed. This intent can be expressed 
by the City Council or through the City Council delegating this responsibility to the City Manager 
through the budgetary process. This classification also includes the remaining positive fund balance 
for all governmental funds except for the General Fund. The City did not have any assigned 
resources as of June 30, 2022. 

 Unassigned: This classification includes the residual fund balance for the General Fund. The 
Unassigned classification also includes negative residual fund balance of any other governmental 
fund that cannot be eliminated by offsetting of Assigned fund balance amounts. 

The City would typically use Restricted fund balances first, followed by Committed resources, and then 
Assigned resources, as appropriate opportunities arise, but reserves the right to selectively spend 
Unassigned resources first to defer the use of these other classified funds. 
 
E. Revenues, Expenditures and Expenses 
 
Operating Revenues and Expenses: 
 
Operating revenues and expenses for proprietary funds are those that result from providing services and 
producing and delivering goods and/or services. It also includes all revenues and expenses not related to 
capital and related financing, noncapital financing, or investing activities. 
 
Expenditures/Expenses: 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, expenses are classified by function for both governmental 
and business-type activities. 
 
In the fund financial statements, expenditures are classified by character (current, debt service or capital 
outlay) for governmental funds, and by operating or non-operating classifications for proprietary funds. 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report expenditures of financial resources. Proprietary 
funds report expenses relating to use of economic resources. 
 
F. Estimates 
 
The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
 

40



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

19 
 

NOTE 1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

G. Budgets 

The City adopts an annual budget for the fiscal year commencing the following July 1. Budgets are adopted 
on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles. The level of control, the level at which 
expenditures may not exceed budget, is the fund. Unused appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year.  
The City does not use encumbrance accounting. 

NOTE 2   IMPACT OF RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 

Effective in Future Fiscal Years 

Effective for fiscal years beginning July 1, 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 96, Subscription-
Based Information Technology Arrangements. This Statement provides guidance on the accounting 
and financial reporting for subscription-based information technology arrangements (SBITAs) for 
government end users (governments). This Statement (1) defines a SBITA; (2) establishes that a SBITA 
results in a right-to-use subscription asset—an intangible asset—and a corresponding subscription liability; 
(3) provides the capitalization criteria for outlays other than subscription payments, including 
implementation costs of a SBITA; and (4) requires note disclosures regarding a SBITA. To the extent 
relevant, the standards for SBITAs are based on the standards established in Statement No. 87, Leases, as 
amended. 

In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences, which is effective for fiscal 
years beginning July 1, 2023. This Statement requires that liabilities for compensated absences be 
recognized for (1) leave that has not been used and (2) leave that has been used but not yet paid in cash 
or settled through noncash means. A liability should be recognized for leave that has not been used if (a) 
the leave is attributable to services already rendered, (b) the leave accumulates, and (c) the leave is more 
likely than not to be used for time off or otherwise paid in cash or settled through noncash means.  

This Statement will result in a liability for compensated absences that more appropriately reflects when a 
government incurs an obligation. In addition, the model can be applied consistently to any type of 
compensated absence and will eliminate potential comparability issues between governments that offer 
different types of leave. The model also will result in a more robust estimate of the amount of compensated 
absences that a government will pay or settle, which will enhance the relevance and reliability of information 
about the liability for compensated absences. 
 
NOTE 3 CASH AND INVESTMENTS 

The City follows the practice of pooling cash of all funds, unless the funds are required by law, debt covenant 
or other instrument to be held in a separate account. Interest income on pooled cash invested is allocated 
monthly to the various funds based on the same proportion that such funds bear to the total monies 
invested. 

Cash and investments as of June 30, 2022 are classified in the accompanying financial statements as 
follows: 

Statement of Net Position:
  Current cash and investments 2,071,849$   
  Restricted cash and investments 241,361        

2,313,210$   

Consisting of the following:
  Cash on hand 350$             
  Deposits with financial institutions 1,237,912     
  Investments in LAIF 1,074,948     

            2,313,210$   
 

41



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

20 
 

NOTE 3 CASH AND INVESTMENTS (continued) 
 
Investments Authorized: 
 
The City manages its pooled idle cash investments under the guidelines of the State of California 
Government Code Section 53601 which specifically authorizes investments in the following instruments: 
treasury bills, treasury notes, federal agency securities, bankers’ acceptances, nonnegotiable certificates 
of deposit, commercial paper, negotiable certificates of deposit, and repurchase agreements. All 
investments activities are conducted with financial institutions approved by the City Council. 
 
Disclosure Relating to Interest Rate Risk: 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.  
Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value in market 
interest rates. As of year-end, the weighted average maturity, as well as the estimated fair value of each 
investment, are shown in the table below. 

  Cost  Fair Value  Maturity Date 
       
Local Agency Investment Fund  $1,074,948  $1,074,948  311-day average 

 
 

Disclosure Relating to Credit Risk: 
 

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer if an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the 
investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating 
organization. LAIF does not have such a rating.  
 
Concentration of Credit Risk: 
 

The investment policy of the City contains no limitation on the amount that can be invested in any one issuer 
beyond that stipulated by the California Government Code. There are no investments in any one issuer that 
represent 5 percent or more of total City investments. There are no investments in any one issuer that 
represent 5 percent or more of total investments by reporting unit. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk: 
 

Custodial credit risk of deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, 
a government will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that 
are in the possession of an outside party.   
 
The California Government Code and the City’s investment policy do not contain legal or policy 
requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits, other than the following 
provisions for deposits: the California Government Code requires that a financial institution secure deposits 
made by state or local governmental units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool held by a 
depository regulated under state law (unless so waived by the governmental unit). The market value of the 
pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal 110 percent of the total amount deposited by the public 
agencies. California law also allows financial institutions to secure City deposits by pledging first trust deed 
mortgage notes having a value of 150 percent of the secured public deposits. 
 
The City’s balance in banks was $1,657,361, all of which was covered by federal depository insurance, or 
the collateral requirements discussed in the preceding paragraph. The bank balance differs from the book 
balance of $1,237,912 because of deposits in transit offset by outstanding checks.   
 
 
 
 

42



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

21 
 

NOTE 3 CASH AND INVESTMENTS (continued) 
 
The custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g., 
broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or 
collateral securities that are in possession of another party. The California Government Code and the City’s 
investment policy do not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit 
risk for investments. With respect to investments, custodial credit risk generally applies only to direct 
investments in marketable securities. Custodial credit risk does not apply to a local government’s indirect 
investment in securities through the use of mutual funds or government investment pools (such as LAIF). 
 
Investment in State Investment Pool (LAIF): 
 
The City is a voluntary participant in the Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) that is regulated by the 
California Government Code under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of California. The fair value 
of the City’s investment in this pool is reported in the accompanying financial statements at amounts based 
upon the City’s pro-rata share of the fair value provided by LAIF for the entire LAIF portfolio (in relation to 
the amortized cost of that portfolio). The balance available for withdrawal is based on accounting records 
maintained by LAIF, which are recorded on an amortized cost basis. 
 
NOTE 4 RECEIVABLES 

The following is the composition of loans receivable at June 30, 2022: 

Community Development
Block Grant Fund

Loans receivables  $                          1,066,134 
Less: allowance for bad debt                                (189,867)

Loans receivable, net  $                             876,267  

There are no related party loan balances at June 30, 2022. 

The following is the composition of Proprietary Funds utility trade receivables at June 30, 2022: 

Solid
Sewer Waste Water Total

Trade receivables  $  41,637  $  15,489  $  22,002  $  79,128 
Less: allowance for bad debts     (18,707)      (6,959)       (9,885)     (35,551)

Receivables, net of allowance  $  22,930  $    8,530  $  12,117  $  43,577  

Lease Receivables:  

As stated in Note 15, during 2022, the City implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) Statement 87, Leases. As a result of implementing this Statement, three of the City’s lessor leasing 
arrangements are now being presented according to the provisions of the Statement. The disclosures for 
each lease are as follows:  

Governmental Activities – General Fund 

1. Aviva Beverage Lease - In August 2018, the City entered into an agreement with Aviva Beverage, LLC 
(“Lessee”) to lease real property, including all improvements, described as 20,910 square feet of 
Industrial Building. The terms of this agreement started with an annual payment for the first year of 
$28,962, fixed minimum monthly payments (“base rent”) of $4,827 per month for years two and three 
and $8,050 per month for years four and five. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic restrictions, the rent for 
years four and five were renegotiated to stay the same as years two and three.  

43



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

22 
 

NOTE 4 RECEIVABLES (continued) 

The lease commenced August 1, 2018 with a term of five (5) years, with five (5) options to renew for 
five (5) years for each option. Thus, the total non-cancellable term under GASB 87 is thirty (30) years. 
The lease agreement provides for an increase of the base rent to $8,613.50 per month for the first 
option period of five years and an increase for each option period after option period #1 equal to the 
prior year’s rent plus the Consumer Price Index (CPI) increase, except that the increase will be no less 
than 1% and no more than 3% per year. 

The City implemented GASB 87 using the base monthly rent of $4,827 in July 2021 to measure the 
lease receivable as of July 1, 2021 by discounting the future minimum lease payments to a net present 
value using a four (4) percent interest rate, the approximate rate for real estate purchases in July 2021. 
The future minimum lease payments used for computing the net present value to measure the lease 
receivable incorporates the “known” annual increases to the base rent in affect at July 1, 2021 as 
mentioned in the previous paragraph, but does not incorporate unknown variable rate increases based 
on CPI changes. The lease receivable at July 1, 2021 was measured at $1,622,571. 

Business-Type Activities – Airport Fund 

2. Facility Lease - In October 2000, the City entered into an agreement with David Fabbrini, on behalf of 
himself and/or Fabbrini Wood Products and/or Mott Airport Mini-Storage, (“Lessee”) to lease real 
property known as 1010 Mott Airport Road. The lease commenced October 1, 2000 and will terminate 
on September 30, 2050 for a total non-cancellable term under GASB 87 of fifty (50) years. The terms 
of this agreement started on October 1, 2000 with fixed minimum payments (“base rent”) of $100 per 
month for the first year. For each successive year of the lease term, the rental amount shall increase 
by two (2) percent on October 1st of each year. 

The City implemented GASB 87 using the base monthly rent of $154.60 in July 2021 to measure the 
lease receivable as of July 1, 2021 by discounting the future minimum lease payments to a net present 
value using a four (4) percent interest rate, the approximate rate for real estate purchases in July 2021. 
The future minimum lease payments used for computing the net present value to measure the lease 
receivable incorporates the two (2) percent annual increases to the base rent in affect at July 1, 2021. 
The lease receivable at July 1, 2021 was measured at $39,679. 

3. Site Lease - In September 2021, the City entered into an agreement with the Dunsmuir Rod and Gun 
Club, (“Lessee”) to lease real property “land” at the Mott Airport. The lease commenced September 1, 
2021 and will terminate on August 31, 2041 for a total non-cancellable term under GASB 87 of twenty 
(20) years. The terms of this agreement started on September 1, 2021 with fixed minimum payments 
(“base rent”) of $150 per month for the first ten (10) years and increasing to $200 per month for the 
next ten (10) years.  

The City implemented GASB 87 using the base monthly rent of $150 in September 2021 to measure 
the lease receivable as of September 1, 2021 by discounting the future minimum lease payments to a 
net present value using a four (4) percent interest rate, the approximate rate for real estate purchases 
in September 2021. The future minimum lease payments used for computing the net present value to 
measure the lease receivable incorporates the annual increase in year eleven (11). The lease 
receivable at September 1, 2021 was measured at $28,159. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

44



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

23 
 

NOTE 5 INTERFUND BALANCES AND OPERATING TRANSFERS 

The following is a summary of the interfund balances at June 30, 2022: 

Due from 
Other funds

Due to Other 
Funds

Net Due 
to/from 

Other Funds

Governmental Activities
General Fund  $      68,399  $                 -  $       68,399 

Total Governmental Activities         68,399                     -           68,399 

Business-Type Activities

Airport Fund                   -           63,399         (63,399)
Water Fund                   -             5,000           (5,000)

Total Business-Type Activities                   -           68,399         (68,399)

Total Government Wide Statement  $      68,399  $       68,399  $                -  

The above amounts are to cover prior year negative cash balances in the respective funds’ pooled cash 
accounts, and will be repaid by transferring monies from other cash accounts or from future revenues. The 
Airport Fund’s interfund balance due to the General Fund is subject to two percent (2%) interest effective 
July 1, 2020, includes $1,243 of accrued interest recorded in the current year, and will be repaid through 
future positive cash flows or operating grants. 
 
The following is a summary of operating transfers in/out: 

Transfers 
In

Transfers 
Out

Net Transfers 
In (Out)

Governmental Activities
General Fund  $             -  $      9,140  $         (9,140)
Community Development Block Grant 
Fund      254,703                 -          254,703 

Non-major governmental funds        17,829      254,703         (236,874)

Total Governmental Activities      272,532      263,843              8,689 

Business-Type Activities
Sewer Fund                 -          8,689             (8,689)

Total Business-Type Activities                 -          8,689             (8,689)

Total Government Wide Statement  $  272,532  $  272,532  $                 - 
 

 
The operating transfers to non-major governmental funds were for operating expenditures. Transfers in to 
the Community Development Block Grant Fund (CDBG) and out of the non-major Economic Development 
Fund were to close the non-major fund in to the CDBG Fund. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

45



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

24 
 

NOTE 6 CAPITAL ASSETS 

Changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2022, are as follows: 

June 30, Additions/ Retirements/ June 30, 

2021 Transfers Transfers 2022

Governmental Activities:

Nondepreciable capital assets

  Land  $     1,151,800  $       83,351  $                  -  $     1,235,151 

  Construction in progress            140,322         213,673                      -           353,995 

Total nondepreciable capital assets         1,292,122         297,024                      -        1,589,146 

Capital assets being depreciated:

  Buildings         2,115,720                    -                      -        2,115,720 

  Machinery and equipment         2,447,850           58,321            (51,503)        2,454,668 

  Infrastructure         3,266,225                    -                      -        3,266,225 

Total capital assets being depreciated         7,829,795           58,321            (51,503)        7,836,613 

Less accumulated depreciation for:

  Buildings         1,592,912           35,716                      -        1,628,628 

  Machinery and equipment         1,664,356           68,833            (51,503)        1,681,686 

  Infrastructure         2,543,739           97,693                      -        2,641,432 

Total accumulated depreciation         5,801,007         202,242            (51,503)        5,951,746 

Total capital assets being depreciated, net         2,028,788        (143,921)                      -        1,884,867 

Subtotal, governmental activities, net         3,320,910         153,103                      -        3,474,013 

Business-Type Activities:

Nondepreciable capital assets

  Land         1,741,070                    -                      -        1,741,070 

  Construction in progress         8,230,317       5,244,573       (2,779,239)       10,695,651 

Total nondepreciable capital assets         9,971,387       5,244,573       (2,779,239)       12,436,721 

Capital assets being depreciated:

  Utility plant       17,110,970                    -                      -       17,110,970 

  Buildings            240,866                    -                      -           240,866 

  Improvements not buildings         2,896,158                    -        2,779,239        5,675,397 

  Machinery and equipment         1,266,947           10,932            (37,979)        1,239,900 

Total capital assets being depreciated       21,514,941           10,932        2,741,260       24,267,133 

Less accumulated depreciation for:

  Utility plant         5,776,250         419,922                      -        6,196,172 

  Buildings            173,395             6,551                      -           179,946 

  Improvements not buildings         2,295,438         171,289                      -        2,466,727 

  Machinery and equipment         1,092,309           35,220            (37,979)        1,089,550 

Total accumulated depreciation         9,337,392         632,982            (37,979)        9,932,395 

Total capital assets being depreciated, net       12,177,549        (622,050)        2,779,239       14,334,738 

Subtotal, business-type activities, net       22,148,936       4,622,523                      -       26,771,459 

Total, government-wide capital assets, net  $   25,469,846  $   4,775,626  $                  -  $   30,245,472 
 

46



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

25 
 

NOTE 6 CAPITAL ASSETS (Continued) 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs for the year ended June 30, 2022, as follows: 

Governmental Activities:
  General government 43,576$       
  Public safety 62,454         
  Streets and roads 96,212         

Total Governmental Activities 202,242$     

Business-Type Activities:
  Sewer 297,330$     
  Solid Waste 219              
  Water 173,890       
  Airport 161,543       

Total Business-Type Activities 632,982$      
 
NOTE 7 LONG TERM DEBT 

Changes in long-term obligations for the year ended June 30, 2022, are as follows: 

June 30, 
2021 Additions Reductions

June 30, 
2022

Current 
Portion

Governmental Activities:

South Dunsmuir Sewer Special 
Assessment District Debt  $     71,000  $               -  $       5,000  $      66,000  $    6,000 

Business-Type Activities:
Notes from direct borrowings  $ 5,233,121  $ 3,447,519  $   131,428  $ 8,549,212  $ 134,940 
Interest payable         30,843         46,450         30,843         46,450      46,450 

Total Business-Type Activities  $ 5,263,964  $ 3,493,969  $   162,271  $ 8,595,662  $ 181,390 
 

The City’s outstanding debt from the special assessment district for the South Dunsmuir Sewer system 
related to governmental activities of $66,000 has annual principal payments and semi-annual interest 
payable at 6% maturing September 2, 2030. The debt contains a provision that in the event of default, 
outstanding amounts become immediately due if the City is unable to make payment. There was no 
collateral pledged as security for this special assessment debt. 
 
The City’s outstanding notes from direct borrowings related to business-type activities of $8,549,212 are 
comprised of the following direct borrowings and contain the following provisions: 
 
1994 USDA Sewer Improvement Certificates of Participation: Annual principal payments and semi-annual 
interest payable at 4.5% maturing May 1, 2035. The City agrees to provide for the accumulation of the 
necessary reserves (the “Reserve Fund”) to assure that the funds available to make the semiannual 
payments when due. At a minimum, the reserve, accumulated annually, shall be equal to 125% of average 
annual debt service on the obligation or $26,879. At June 30, 2022, the City has accumulated a reserve of 
$26,879 in a separate reserve account and shows this as part of restricted cash in the Sewer Fund. The 
City pledges to repay the entire principal amount of the loan from the sewer user fees and service charges 
of its Sewer Enterprise Fund and has pledged said sewer user fees and services charges as collateral to 
secure the repayment of the loan. There are no default provisions for this debt. 
 
 

47



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

26 
 

NOTE 7   LONG TERM DEBT (continued) 
 
2007 USDA Sewer Loan: Annual principal payments and semi-annual interest payable at 4.25% maturing 
May 1, 2046. The loan contains a provision that in the event of default by the City of any material provision 
of this agreement, outstanding amounts become immediately due if the City is unable to make payment. 
There was no collateral pledged as security for this direct borrowing. 
 
2012 State Water Resources Control Board: Annual principal payments with interest payable at 1.8% 
maturing August 31, 2034. The City agrees to pledge annual “Net Revenues”, defined as net operating 
income, excluding depreciation, up to a minimum equal to 1.2 times the highest year’s debt service or 
$125,711. This obligation is secured by a lien on this pledge of Net Revenues. At June 30, 2022, the City 
has accumulated $155,103 of this pledge in a separate reserve account and shows this as part of restricted 
cash in the Sewer Fund. The loan contains a provision that in the event of default by the City of any material 
provision of this agreement, outstanding amounts become immediately due if the City is unable to make 
payment. 
 
1994 USDA Water Improvement Certificates of Participation: Annual principal payments and semi-annual 
interest payable at 5.125% maturing May 1, 2035. The City agrees to provide for the accumulation of the 
necessary reserves (the “Reserve Fund”) to assure that the funds available to make the semiannual 
payments when due. At a minimum, the reserve, accumulated annually, shall be equal to 125% of average 
annual debt service on the obligation or $32,724. At June 30, 2022, the City has accumulated a reserve of 
$59,379 in a separate reserve account and shows this as restricted cash in the Water Fund.  
 
The City pledges to repay the entire principal amount of the loan from the water user fees and service 
charges of its Water Enterprise Fund and has pledged said water user fees and services charges as 
collateral to secure the repayment of the loan. There are no default provisions for this debt. 
 
2021 RD/RUS Interim Loan Anticipation Note: Pursuant to a letter of conditions dated April 24, 2020 from 
the USDA Rural Development (“RD/RUS”) relating to the financing by RD/RUS of improvements to the 
City’s wastewater treatment system, the City entered into a loan anticipation note agreement with CoBANK 
in the amount of $7,934,000, to finance the project on an interim basis (i.e. construction financing) pending 
the issuance and delivery of the RD/RUS financing. The City will pay the principal of the obligation at or 
prior to maturity (thirty-six months after closing, approx. March 2024) with the proceeds of the RD/RUS 
financing. The balance of the obligation at June 30, 2022 was $6,131,070, not including interest payable of 
$19,394. Interest is charged on the outstanding balance of the loan at the 1-month LIBOR Rate plus 1.4%. 
The project is expected to be finished and the RD/RUS financing issued in FY22-23. 

Security: Pursuant to Government Code, the proceeds of the RD/RUS financing are pledged for the 
payment of the interim financing obligation and the interest thereon. 

Default: Default is defined as the City failing to make any payment to the lender or a termination or material 
modification of the RD/RUS letter of conditions. In the event of default, the lender may suspend construction 
financing and declare all outstanding principal and accrued interest thereon immediately due and payable. 
 
2017 California Department of Transportation Airport Pavement Maintenance Management and Airport 
Layout Plan Loan: Annual principal payments with interest payable at 2.33% maturing February 22, 2034. 
The debt contains a provision that in the event of default, outstanding amounts become immediately due if 
the City is unable to make payment. There was no collateral pledged as security for this direct borrowing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

48



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

27 
 

NOTE 7   LONG TERM DEBT (continued) 

 
Debt service requirements on long-term debt at June 30, 2022, are as follows: 

Year Ended June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest
2023 6,000$    3,780$        134,940$       253,995$        
2024 6,000      3,420          6,269,549      246,324          
2025 7,000      3,030          143,044         68,330           
2026 7,000      2,610          147,640         64,168           
2027 7,000      2,190          150,264         59,839           
2028-2032 33,000    3,990          825,733         229,325          
2033-2037 -              -                 585,042         103,353          
2038-2042 -              -                 149,000         50,128           
2043-2047 -              -                 144,000         15,598           

66,000$   19,020$      8,549,212$     1,091,060$     

So. Dunsmuir Sewer 
Special Assessment

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities

Notes from Direct Borrowings

 
 
NOTE 8 COMPENSATED ABSENCES 

Included in long-term liabilities, changes in compensated absence payable for the year ended June 30, 
2022, is as follows: 

June 30, 
2021 Additions Reductions

June 30, 
2022

Current 
Portion

Governmental Activities:
  General fund  $   55,910  $           -  $     27,494  $   28,416  $   26,735 

Business-Type Activities:
  Sewer fund       52,971               -           1,386       51,585       20,767 
  Solid Waste fund         5,244               -           2,085         3,159         3,159 
  Water fund       33,417          715                  -       34,132       23,041 
  Airport fund         2,237               -              948         1,289         1,289 

Total Business-Type Activities       93,869          715           4,419       90,165       48,256 

Total Compensated Absences  $  149,779  $       715  $     31,913  $  118,581  $   74,991 
 

NOTE 9 PENSION PLAN 

General Information about the Pension Plan 

Plan Description, Benefits Provided, and Employees Covered  

The “Plan” is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined-benefit pension plan administered by CalPERS. The 
June 30, 2020 GASB 68 actuarial valuation report for the combined Miscellaneous and Safety (police 
and fire) Risk Pools lists a full description of the assumptions for funding purposes, but not accounting 
purposes, and membership information. The benefits provided from Appendix B of the June 30, 2020, 
actuarial valuation report for the CalPERS Miscellaneous and Safety Risk Pools are available on the 
CalPERS’ website under “Forms and Publications.”  

 

 

49



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

28 
 

NOTE 9   PENSION PLAN (continued) 

Contribution Description  

Section 20814(c) of the California Public Employees’ Retirement Law (PERL) requires that an actuary 
determine the employer contribution rates for all public employers on an annual basis, and that the rates 
shall be effective on the July 1 following notice of a change in the rate. The CalPERS’ annual actuarial 
valuation process determines the total plan contributions. For public-agency cost-sharing plans covered by  
either the Plan, the basis of the Plan’s actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to 
pay the Plan’s allocated share of the risk pool’s costs of benefits earned by employees during the year,  
and  any  unfunded  accrued  liability. PERL requires the employer to contribute the difference between the 
actuarially determined rate and the contribution rate of employees. For the measurement period ended 
June 30, 2020 (the measurement date), the basis for the contribution rates is actual contributions made, 
and not the actuarially determined contribution. The employees and the employer had the following 
contribution rates, shown as a percentage of the annual payroll: 

Contribution Type Classic PEPRA
Employee (Charged) 7.000% 6.750%

Employee (Effective) 6.908% 6.750%

Employer 10.484% 7.732%

Employee (Charged) 0.000% 13.000%

Employee (Effective) 0.000% 13.000%

Employer 0.000% 13.044%

Miscellaneous

Safety

 

The charged employee contribution rate is the percentage that Plan charges the employees after the first 
$400 in earnings for Classic plans. The Classic plan charges the first $400 in earnings at two-thirds of the 
charged rate. The effective employee contribution rate takes this into consideration.   

Employer contribution rates may change if the Plan amends its contracts. It is the responsibility of the 
employer to make necessary accounting adjustments to reflect the impact due to any employer-paid 
member contributions, or situations where members pay a portion of the employer contribution.  

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Plan Contributions  

CalPERS derived the actuarial methods and assumptions used to set the actuarially determined 
contributions for Fiscal Year 2020–2021 from the June 30, 2020, funding valuation report. 

Actuarial Cost Method Entry-Age Normal

Actuarial Assumptions:

Discount Rate 7.15%

Inflation 2.50%

Salary Increases Varies by entry age and service

Mortality Rate Table 1
Derived using CalPERS' 
membership data for all funds  

All other actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2020, valuation use the results of CalPERS Experience 
Study and Review of Actuarial Assumptions — December 2017, including updates to salary increases, 
mortality, and retirement rates, as a basis. The experience study report is available on the CalPERS website 
under Forms and Publications.   

1 CalPERS developed the mortality table used based on CalPERS’ specific data. The table includes 15 
years of mortality improvements using Society of Actuaries Scale MP‒2016. For more details on this table, 
please refer to the 2017 experience study report.  

50



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

29 
 

NOTE 9   PENSION PLAN (continued) 

Long-term Expected Rate of Return  

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment 
expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.    

In determining the long-term expected rate of return, CalPERS took into account both short-term and long-
term market return expectations as well as the expected pension fund cash flows. Using historical returns 
of all the funds’ asset classes, expected compound (geometric) returns were calculated over the short-term 
(first 10 years) and long-term (11+ years) using a building-block approach. Using the expected nominal 
returns for both short-term and long-term, the present value of benefits was calculated for each fund. The 
expected rate of return was set by calculating the single equivalent expected rate of return that arrived at 
the same present value of benefits for cash flows as the one calculated using both short-term and long-
term returns. The expected rate of return was then set equal to the single equivalent rate calculated above 
and adjusted to account for assumed administrative expenses.   

The expected real rates of return by asset class are as follows: 

Asset Class1

Global equity        50.00 %               4.80 %               5.98 %

Fixed income        28.00               1.00               2.62 

Inflation assets  -               0.77               1.81 

Private equity          8.00               6.30               7.23 

Real assets        13.00               3.75               4.93 

Liquidity          1.00  -              (0.92)

2 An expected inflation of 2.00% used for this period.
3 An expected inflation of 2.92% used for this period.
4 Figures are based on previous ALM of 2017.

1 In the System's Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR), Fixed Income is 
included in Global Debt Securities; Liquidity is included in Short-Term Investments; 
Inflation Assets are included in both Global Equity Securities and Global Debt Securities

Assumed 
assset 

allocation

Real return 

years 1-10 -2,4

Real return 

years 11 +3,4

 

Discount Rate  

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.15%. The projection of cash flows used 
to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the current 
member contribution rates and that contributions from employers will be made at statutorily required rates, 
as actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to 
be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-
term expected rate of return on plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments 
to determine the total pension liability.  

Amortization of Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows of Resources  

Description of the Amortization Methodology   

Under GASB  68, agencies recognize actuarial gains and losses related to changes in total pension liability 
and fiduciary net position in the pension expense systematically over time.  

 

51



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

30 
 

NOTE 9   PENSION PLAN (continued) 

Agencies recognize the first amortized amount of a gain or loss in the pension expense for the year the 
gain or loss occurs. Agencies categorize the remaining amounts as deferred outflows and deferred inflows 
of resources related to pensions that are to be recognized in future pension expense.   

The amortization period differs depending on the source of the gain or loss: 

Difference between projected 
and actual earnings

Five-year straight-line amortization

All other amounts Straight-line amortization over the expected average remaining 
service lifetime (EARSL) of all members provided with benefits 
(active, inactive and retired), as of the beginning of the 
measurement period.

 

The report amortizes the Net Difference between the Projected and Actual Investment Earnings on Pension 
Plan Investments over a five-year period on a straight-line basis. The report recognizes one-fifth of the total 
in the Pension Expense during the measurement period and amortizes the remaining Net Difference 
between Projected and Actual Investment Earning on Pension Plan Investments at the measurement date 
over the remaining four-year period. The Net Difference between Projected and Actual Investment Earnings 
on Pension Plan Investments in the Schedule of Collective Pension Amounts represents the unamortized 
balance relating to the current measurement period and the prior measurement period on a net basis.   

The employer should amortize deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources relating to Differences 
between Expected and Actual Experience, Changes of Assumptions, and employer-specific amounts over 
the EARSL of members provided with pensions through the Plan. The EARSL for PERF C for the June 30, 
2021 measurement date, is 3.7 years.   

CalPERS derived the EARSL by dividing the total service years of 561,622 (the sum of remaining service 
lifetimes of all active employees) by 150,622 (the total number of participants: active, inactive, and retired) 
in PERF C. Inactive employees and retirees have remaining service lifetimes equal to zero. The basis of 
total future service is the members’ probability of decrementing due to an event other than receiving a cash 
refund. 

The Schedule of Collective Pension Amounts does not reflect employer-specific amounts such as changes 
in the employer proportion, differences between actual employer contributions and employers’  
proportionate  shares  of  contributions,  and  employer  contributions  to  PERF  C  subsequent  to  the  
measurement  date,  as  defined  in  GASB  68  paragraphs 54, 55, and 57. Appropriate treatment of such 
amounts is the responsibility of the employers.    

CalPERS’ website provides CalPERS’ Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2021 and the CalPERS’ GASB 68 Accounting Valuation Reports for the public agency 
miscellaneous and Safety Risk Pools, which together provide additional financial and actuarial information 
required for GASB 68 disclosures.  

Allocation of Net Pension Liability and Pension Expense to Individual Plans  

A key aspect of GASB 68 pertaining to cost-sharing employers is the establishment of an approach to 
allocate the net pension liability and pension expense to the individual employers within the risk pool. 
Paragraph 49 of GASB 68 indicates that for pools with contribution rates within the pool based on separate 
relationships, the proportional allocation should reflect those relationships. The allocation method utilized 
by CalPERS determines the employer’s share by reflecting these relationships through the plans they 
sponsor within the risk pool. The valuation uses plan liability and asset-related information where available, 
and proportional allocations of individual plan amounts as of the valuation date where not available. 

 

 

52



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

31 
 

NOTE 9   PENSION PLAN (continued)  

Please refer to the CalPERS “Public Agency Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan 
Schedules of Employer Allocations and Collective Pension Amounts” report for the Miscellaneous and 
Safety Risk Pools, available from the CalPERS’ website under the GASB 68 section. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to 
Pensions  

As of June 30, 2022, the City reported net pension liabilities for its proportionate shares of the net pension 
liability of each Plan as follows: 

Proportionate 
Share

of Net Pension 
Liability

Miscellaneous $659,080
Safety                  215,333 

Total $874,413  

The City’s net pension liability for each Plan is measured as the proportionate share of the net pension 
liability. The net pension liability of each Plan is measured as of June 30, 2021, and the total pension liability 
for each Plan used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 
30, 2020 rolled forward to June 30, 2021 using standard update procedures. The City’s proportion of the 
net pension liability was based on a projection of the City’s long-term share of contributions to the pension 
Plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined. The City’s 
proportionate share of the net pension liability for each Plan as of the June 30, 2021 measurement date 
was as follows: 

Miscallaneous Safety Total
Proportion - June 30, 2020 0.02744% 0.00397% 0.01307%
Proportion - June 30, 2021 0.03471% 0.00614% 0.01617%
Change - Increase/(Decrease) 0.00727% 0.00217% 0.00310%  

The City is required to contribute the difference between the actuarially determined rate and the contribution 
rate of employees. For the June 30, 2021 measurement date, the contributions recognized as part of pension 
expense for each Plan were as follows: 

Miscellaneous Safety
 $               129,270  $                      30,865  

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, the City recognized pension expense of $336,665.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

53



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

32 
 

NOTE 9   PENSION PLAN (continued) 

At the June 30, 2021 measurement date, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

For the Measurement Year Ended June 30, 2021
Deferred Outflows 

of Resources
Deferred Inflows 

of Resources

Change in assumptions  $                         -  $                        - 
Differences between actual and expected experience                  110,699                            - 
Difference between projected and actual earnings on 
pension plan investments                             -                 703,507 
Differences between the employer’s proportionate 
share of contributions                    18,503                   57,988 

Change in employer's proportion                    34,214                   22,424 
Pension contributions made subsequent to the 
measurement date                  165,625                            - 

Total  $              329,041  $             783,919  

The $165,625 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions made subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 
2023. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related 
to pensions will be recognized as pension expense as follows:  

Measurement Period
Ending June 30,

2022 (127,927)$            
2023 (138,883)              
2024 (159,429)              
2025 (194,264)              
2026 -                           

Remaining -                           
Total (620,503)$            

 

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 

The following presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for each Plan, calculated 
using the discount rate for each Plan, as well as what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower or 1-percentage 
point higher than the current rate:  

Plan's Net Pension Liability
Discount Rate -1% 

6.15%
Current Discount Rate

7.15%
Discount Rate +1% 

8.15%
Miscellaneous $1,305,677 $659,080 $124,548
Safety 292,599                                         215,333                   151,868 

Total $1,598,276 $874,413 $276,416  

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position  

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued 
CalPERS’ financial report (CAFR), available at the CalPERS’ website.   

Payable to the Pension Plan   

The City did not have any current amounts payable to the pension plan at June 30, 2022. 

54



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

33 
 

NOTE 10 SELF-INSURANCE 

The City is a member of the Small Cities Organized Risk Effort (SCORE), a JPA providing shared risk pool 
for general liability and workers compensation claims and purchase of insurances in excess of shared 
losses, primary insurance or reinsurance for other risks incurred in City operations. The City is responsible 
to pay the first $25,000 of each claim, but has coverage through the pool of up to $45,000,000 per claim. 

NOTE 11  RESTRICTED NET POSITION 

Restricted net position is equity whose use is subject to constraints that are either; (1) externally imposed 
by creditors (such as debt covenants), grantors, or laws or regulations of governments, or (2) imposed by 
law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Restricted net position at June 30, 2022 for 
governmental activities were restricted for the specific fund purpose and business-type activities were 
restricted for debt service. 

NOTE 12  FUND BALANCE 

As discussed in Note 1, restricted funds are used first as appropriate. Assigned Funds are reduced to the 
extent that expenditure authority has been budgeted by Council or the Assignment has been changed by 
the Mayor. Decreases to fund balance first reduce Unassigned Fund balance; in the event that Unassigned 
Fund Balance becomes zero, then Assigned and Committed Fund Balances are used in that order. 

General Fund 

The General Fund has Non-spendable Fund Balance of $1,552 consisting of prepaid expenses and an 
Unassigned Fund Balance of $1,624,740 at June 30, 2022.  

Other Major Fund 

The Community Development Block Grant Fund has Non-spendable Fund Balance of $876,267 consisting 
of noncurrent receivables and an Restricted Fund Balance of $146,415 at June 30, 2022. 

Other Funds 

Other governmental (non-major) funds have Restricted Fund Balance of $104,761 restricted for fund 
purposes of public safety and streets and roads improvements at June 30, 2022. 

NOTE 13   CONTINGENCIES 

The City participates in several Federal and State assisted grant programs that are subject to audit by the 
grantors.  Although the ultimate outcome of such audits cannot be determined at this time, the City believes 
that such audits will not have a material adverse effect on the City. 

The City is also a party to several legal actions.  Should the outcome be unfavorable to the City, it does not 
expect the financial effects will be material to the financial position of the City. 

NOTE 14   COMMITMENTS 

The City had contractual commitments at June 30, 2022, of approximately $7,109,302 for contractor and 
engineering services for the construction of various City sewer, water and airport projects. The City also 
had contractual commitments at June 30, 2022, of approximately $187,835 for a subrecipient agreement 
for services provided for the Covid-19 assistance grants, $80,306 for a subrecipient agreement for services 
provided for an economic assistance grant, and $123,093 for a contractual agreement for services provided 
for the SB2 planning grant. 

NOTE 15   LEASES, CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE AND RESTATEMENT 

The City leases the children’s park and City parking lots, as well as some office equipment, under non-
cancellable lease terms of one-year or less and are reported as operating leases within the various 
functions of the City government. 

 

55



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

June 30, 2022 
 
 

34 
 

NOTE 15   LEASES, CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE AND RESTATEMENT (continued) 

For 2022, the City implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 87, 
Leases. GASB Statement No. 87 enhances the relevance and consistency of information of the 
government’s leasing activities. It establishes requirements for lease accounting based on the principle that 
leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. A lessee is required to recognize a lease 
liability and an intangible right to use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable 
and a deferred inflow of resources.   

As a result of implementing this Statement, the City’s three leases referred to in Note 4 are now being 
presented according to the provisions of the Statement. The changes were incorporated in the City’s 2022 
financial statements and two of the leases had an effect on the beginning fund balance of the General Fund 
and beginning net position of the Airport Fund. At July 1, 2021, the date of implementation for the Aviva 
Beverage Lease, the City’s General Fund recognized $1,622,571 in lease receivable; this entire amount 
was offset by deferred inflows of resources from leases, thus there was a net zero effect on beginning fund 
balance. The City’s Airport Fund recognized $39,679 in lease receivable for the Facility Lease; this entire 
amount was offset by deferred inflows of resources from leases, thus there was a net zero effect on 
beginning net position. At September 1, 2021, the date of implementation for the Site Lease, the City’s 
Airport Fund also recognized $28,159 in lease receivable; this entire amount was offset by deferred inflows 
of resources from leases. 

NOTE 16   PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 

During this fiscal year the City discovered several errors to the previously issued financial statements 
relating to the General Fund and the Governmental Activities. The following tables describe the adjustments 
and the impact on Fund Balance, Net Position and the Change in Net Position of the 20-21 fiscal year: 

Fund Balance Decrease (Increase)

1. Prior period adjustment to correctly recognize property tax revenues  $          17,604 
2. Prior period adjustment to correct TOT and SCTID payable              12,945 
3. Prior period adjustment to record deferred revenue - unavailable for SB2 grant funds             (10,331)
4. Prior period adjustment to record rent concessions for the bottling company lease             (12,529)

Net Impact - General Fund  $            7,689 

IMPACT ON:
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
Net Position - July 1, 2021 - as previously reported  $   4,829,881 
Prior Period Adjustments #1, 2 & 4           18,020 

Net Position - July 1, 2021 - as restated  $   4,847,901 

Change in Net Position - FY 20-21 - as previously reported  $      342,425 
Prior Period Adjustments #1, 2 & 4           18,020 

Change in Net Position - FY 20-21 - as restated  $      360,445  

NOTE 17   SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Subsequent to June 30, 2022, the City finalized the construction and financing of the water mainline 
reconstruction project financed by the USDA RUS loan (see Note 7) and grant funds. Through year-end 
June 30, 2022, the City was unsure how much of the soft costs (i.e. engineering, water meters and interim 
financing interest) of the project could actually be financed through these funds, therefore there was an 
assumption made that these costs would be funded by the City’s water fund sources and that revenue 
would not be recognized until it was sure whether any of these costs would be funded by the grant funding 
source. In December 2022, the City submitted a funds request to the USDA requesting approximately 
$1,340,887 of these soft costs incurred through June 30, 2022, and recorded a year-end accrual to 
recognize this revenue.

56



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
(UNAUDITED) 

 
 

57



Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Original Final Actual Variance With
Budget Budget Amounts Final Budget

REVENUES
Property taxes  $        308,500  $        308,500  $   342,450  $             33,950 
Sales and use taxes            265,500            265,500       304,103                 38,603 
Transient occupancy taxes            180,000            180,000       324,351               144,351 
Franchise and other licenses              43,000              43,000         44,609                   1,609 
Licenses and permits              58,800              58,800         90,602                 31,802 
Intergovernmental revenues            308,292            344,577       570,539               225,962 
Coronavirus fiscal recovery funds                       1            187,071       187,071                           - 
Charges for services            129,500            294,500       304,603                 10,103 
Fines, forfeitures and penalties                6,600                6,600         43,607                 37,007 
Use of money and property                2,050                2,050         12,735                 10,685 
Interest from leases                       -                       -         59,422                 59,422 
Lease revenue              93,892              93,892         59,910                (33,982)
Other            212,062            212,062       104,867              (107,195)

Total Revenues         1,608,197         1,996,552    2,448,869               452,317 

EXPENDITURES
Current:

City council              19,600              58,100           7,692                 50,408 
City administrator              69,080              70,580         56,024                 14,556 
City clerk              41,505              42,005         39,562                   2,443 
City attorney              29,000              29,000         14,666                 14,334 
Planning            116,755            126,755       122,838                   3,917 
Finance and administration            174,630            174,630         98,673                 75,957 
Police protection            416,000            416,000       414,041                   1,959 
Code enforcement and animal regulation            112,343            118,343       124,418                  (6,075)
Fire protection            296,544            396,544       397,536                     (992)
Streets and roads            150,650            150,650         92,569                 58,081 
Buildings and grounds            171,980            171,980       108,580                 63,400 
Community and economic development              65,158            254,229         93,450               160,779 

Bad debt expense                       -                       -           1,054                  (1,054)
Capital outlay              27,502              27,502       353,887              (326,385)

Total Expenditures         1,690,747         2,036,318    1,924,990               111,328 

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures            (82,550)            (39,766)       523,879               563,645 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from sale of assets                       -                       -           5,550                   5,550 
Operating transfers in (out)              11,000              11,000          (9,140)                (20,140)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)              11,000              11,000          (3,590)                (14,590)

Change in Fund Balance  $        (71,550)  $        (28,766)  $   520,289  $           549,055 

CITY OF DUNSMUIR
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

For The Year Ended June 30, 2022
General Fund

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

3558



Favorable
(Unfavorable)

Original Final Actual Variance With
Budget Budget Amounts Final Budget

REVENUES
Intergovernmental revenues  $                   -  $        250,000  $       1,513  $          (248,487)
Coronavirus Round 1 Microenterprise assistance                     -              200,000       280,092                 80,092 
Coronavirus Round 2 Microenterprise assistance                     -                       -             5,968                   5,968 
Use of money and property              11,000              11,000           8,653                  (2,347)

Total Revenues              11,000            461,000       296,226              (164,774)

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Community and economic development                1,117            451,117       349,541               101,576 

Total Expenditures                1,117            451,117       349,541               101,576 

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures                9,883                9,883        (53,315)                (63,198)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Operating transfers in (out)              (9,883)              (9,883)       254,703               264,586 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)              (9,883)              (9,883)       254,703               264,586 

Change in Fund Balance  $                   -  $                   -  $   201,388  $           201,388 

For The Year Ended June 30, 2022

Budgetary Comparison Schedule
Community Development Block Grant Fund

CITY OF DUNSMUIR

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

3659



Measurement Year Ending June 30: 1 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Plan's proportion of the net pension liability 0.01178% 0.01159% 0.01217% 0.01229% 0.01256% 0.01285% 0.01307% 0.01307%
Plan's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability $732,939 $795,680 $1,053,116 $1,219,219 $1,210,387 $1,316,847 $1,421,914 $874,413
Plan's covered payroll $466,885 $437,788 $502,299 $590,235 $597,588 $628,636 $693,731 $724,108

Plan's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability as percentage of its covered-employee 
payroll 156.98% 181.75% 209.66% 206.57% 202.55% 209.48% 204.97% 120.76%

Plan's proportionate share of the fiduciary net 
position as a percentage of the plan's total 
pension liability 16.72% 17.83% 23.81% 26.11% 25.46% 25.89% 27.26% 15.98%
Plan's proportionate share of aggregate 

employer contributions 2 $99,580 $126,521 $123,954 $129,202 $136,588 $157,172 $171,583 $185,859

1 GASB 68 requires historical information only for measurement periods for which GASB 68 is applicable.
2 The plan’s proportionate share of aggregate contributions may not match the actual contributions made by the employer during the measurement period. The 
plan’s proportionate share of aggregate contributions uses the plan’s proportion of fiduciary net position multiplied by the total employer contribution amount as 
its basis, as well as any additional side fund (or unfunded liability) contributions made by the employer during the measurement period. GASB 68 does not 
require that we display this data for employers participating in cost-sharing plans, but we show it here because we use it in the calculation of the Plans' pension 
expense.

CITY OF DUNSMUIR
Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan

June 30, 2022
Last 10 Years

SCHEDULE OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT'S
PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

COMBINED PLANS

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements. 3760



Measurement Year Ending June 30: 1 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Actuarially determined contribution 2 47,001$   42,711$   63,629$   80,031$   104,863$ 124,196$ 142,512$ 160,135$ 
Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
determined contribution 47,001     42,711     63,660     80,035     104,863   124,196   142,512   160,135   
Contribution deficiency (excess) -$             -$             (31)$         (4)$           -$             -$             -$             -$             

Covered payroll 466,885$ 437,788$ 502,299$ 590,235$ 597,588$ 628,636$ 693,731$ 724,108$ 
Contributions as a percentage of covered-
employee payroll 10.07% 9.76% 12.67% 13.56% 17.55% 19.76% 20.54% 22.11%

1 GASB 68 requires historical information only for measurement periods for which GASB 68 is applicable.

Notes to Schedule:

Change in Assumptions: There were no changes in assumptions.

COMBINED PLANS

2 GASB 68 assumes that employers contribute an amount equal to the actuarially determined contribution. However, some employers may choose to 
make additional contributions towards their side fund or their unfunded liability. Employer contributions for such plans exceed the actuarially determined 
contribution. CalPERS determined that employer obligations referred to as "side funds" do not conform to the circumstances described in the paragraph 
120 of GASB 68, therefore CalPERS does not consider them separately financed specific liabilities. 

Benefit Changes: There were no changes to benefit terms that applied to all members of the Public Agency Pool. However, individual employers in the 

Plan may have provided a benefit improvement to their employees by granting Two Years Additional Service Credit to members retiring during a specific 

period (also known as "Golden Handshakes"). Employers that have done so may need to report this imformation as a separate liability in their financial 
statements as CalPERS considers such amounts to be separately financed employer-specific liabilities. These employers should consult with their 

auditors.

CITY OF DUNSMUIR
Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plan

June 30, 2022
Last 10 Years

SCHEDULE OF LOCAL GOVERNMENT'S PLAN CONTRIBUTIONS

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements. 3861



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

62



So. Dunsmuir
Local SB1 Fire Sewer

Transportation Gas Tax RMRA Assessment EDBG Assessment
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

ASSETS
Cash  $               29,386  $  14,059  $ 12,056  $          40,197  $               -  $                      -  $     95,698 
Receivables (net of allowance for doubtful

accounts, where applicable):
Intergovernmental and other                   48,258        3,712               -                6,487                   -                  2,071         60,528 

Total Assets  $               77,644  $  17,771  $ 12,056  $          46,684  $               -  $              2,071  $   156,226 

Liabilities
Accounts payable  $                         -  $    3,207  $           -  $                    -  $               -  $                      -  $       3,207 

Total Liabilities                             -        3,207               -                        -                   -                          -           3,207 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Deferred revenue - unavailable                   48,258                -               -                        -                   -                          -         48,258 

Fund Balances

Restricted for:
Streets and roads                   29,386      14,564     12,056                        -                   -                  2,071         58,077 
Public safety                             -                -               -              46,684                   -                          -         46,684 

Total Restricted                   29,386      14,564     12,056              46,684                   -                  2,071       104,761 

Unassigned                             -                -               -                        -                   -                          -                   - 

Total Fund Balances (Deficits)                   29,386      14,564     12,056              46,684                   -                  2,071       104,761 

 $               77,644  $  17,771  $ 12,056  $          46,684  $               -  $              2,071  $   156,226 

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 
RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of 
Resources and Fund Balances

Special Revenue Funds

CITY OF DUNSMUIR
Combining Balance Sheet

June 30, 2022
Non-Major Governmental Funds

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

3963



 

So. Dunsmuir
Local SB1 Fire Sewer

Transportation Gas Tax RMRA Assessment EDBG Assessment
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Total

REVENUES
Assessments  $                        -  $            -  $          -  $          27,303  $               -  $              8,035  $     35,338 
Intergovernmental revenues                  43,461      66,582    33,163                        -                   -                         -       143,206 
Use of money and property                            -                -              -                     23                   -                         -                23 
Other                            -        3,566              -                        -                   -                         -           3,566 

Total Revenues                  43,461      70,148    33,163              27,326                   -                  8,035       182,133 

EXPENDITURES

Current:
Fire protection                            -                -              -                9,522                   -                         -           9,522 
Streets and roads                    1,966      64,476    26,579                        -                   -                     872         93,893 
Transit assistance                  43,461                -              -                        -                   -                         -         43,461 

Capital outlay                            -        1,458              -                        -                   -                         -           1,458 
Debt service:

Principal                            -                -              -                        -                   -                  5,000           5,000 
Interest                            -                -              -                        -                   -                  4,110           4,110 

Total Expenditures                  45,427      65,934    26,579                9,522                   -                  9,982       157,444 

Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures                   (1,966)        4,214      6,584              17,804                   -                (1,947)         24,689 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Operating transfers in (out)                            -        9,140              -                        -      (254,703)                  8,689      (236,874)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)                            -        9,140              -                        -      (254,703)                  8,689      (236,874)

Changes in Fund Balance                   (1,966)      13,354      6,584              17,804      (254,703)                  6,742      (212,185)

FUND BALANCE

Beginning of Year                  31,352        1,210      5,472              28,880       254,703                (4,671)       316,946 

End of  Year  $              29,386  $  14,564  $12,056  $          46,684  $               -  $              2,071  $   104,761 

Special Revenue

CITY OF DUNSMUIR
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

For The Year Ended June 30, 2022
Non-Major Governmental Funds

The accompanying notes are an integral
part of these financial statements.

4064



 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SINGLE AUDIT AND OTHER SCHEDULES AND REPORTS

65



 

41 
 

 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND 

OTHER MATERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
To the City Council and 
Those Charged with Governance 
City of Dunsmuir, California 
 
I have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Dunsmuir as of and 
for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise 
the City of Dunsmuir, California’s basic financial statements, and have issued my report thereon dated June 
26, 2023. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing my audit of the financial statements, I considered City of Dunsmuir, California’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing my opinions on the financial statements, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of City of Dunsmuir, California’s internal control.  
Accordingly, I do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Dunsmuir, California’s internal 
control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.   
 
My consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not 
been identified. I did identify certain deficiencies in internal control described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and questioned costs as item 2022-001 that I consider to be a material weakness.  
 
Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Dunsmuir, California’s financial statements 
are free of material misstatement, I performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grants agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of my audit and, accordingly, I do not express such an opinion. The results of 
my tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards.  
 
 
 

 

66



 

42 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued) 

City of Dunsmuir, California’s Response to Findings 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the City of Dunsmuir, 
California’s response to the findings identified in my audit and described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and questioned costs. City of Dunsmuir, California’s response was not subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, I express no opinion on it. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
  
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of my testing of internal control and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or 
on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose.  
 
 
 
 
Charles W. Pillon, CPA 
Anderson, California 

June 26, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67



 

43 
 

 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

 
 
To the City Council and 
Those Charged with Governance 
City of Dunsmuir, California 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program  

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

I have audited the City of Dunsmuir, California’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of the City 
of Dunsmuir, California’s major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2022. The City of Dunsmuir, 
California’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  

In my opinion, City of Dunsmuir, California complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs 
for the year ended June 30, 2022. 

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

I conducted my audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements 
for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). My responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of my report. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, 
statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to City of Dunsmuir, 
California’s federal programs. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on City of 
Dunsmuir, California’s compliance based on my audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but 
is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect 
material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is 
higher than for that resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements 
referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, 
it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about City of Dunsmuir, 
California’s compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, I: 

 

 

 

68



 

44 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued) 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, 
evidence regarding City of Dunsmuir, California’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred 
to above and performing such other procedures as I considered necessary in the circumstances. 

 Obtain an understanding of City of Dunsmuir, California’s internal control over compliance relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report 
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of City of Dunsmuir, California’s internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

I am required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal control over 
compliance that I identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control over Compliance 

My consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control 
over compliance and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not 
identified. However, as discussed below, I did identify certain deficiencies in internal control over compliance 
that I consider to be a material weakness. 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance 
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on 
a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material 
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected 
and corrected, on a timely basis. I consider the deficiency in internal control over compliance described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2022-002 to be a material weakness. 

A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe 
than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those 
charged with governance. 

My audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over 
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on City of Dunsmuir, 
California’s response to the internal control over compliance findings identified in my audit described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. City of Dunsmuir, California’s response was not 
subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, I express no 
opinion on the response. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of my testing of 
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
Charles W. Pillon, CPA 
Anderson, California 

June 26, 2023 

69



Federal Grantor/Program or Cluster Title ALN
Pass-through Grantor 

and Number
Passed-through to 

Subrecipients ($)
Federal 

Expenditures($)

Highway Planning and Construction Cluster-Cluster

Department of Transportation

Highway Planning and Construction

Highway Planning and Construction 20.205

California Department of 
Transportation

0218000085L-N  $             209,219 

Total Highway Planning and Construction $0 209,219
Total Department of Transportation 209,219

Total Highway Planning and Construction Cluster-Cluster 209,219
Other Programs

Department of Transportation

Airport Improvement Program and COVID-19 Airports Programs

Airport Improvement Program - Runway Reconstruction 20.106 257,886

Airport Improvement Program - Northend Taxiway/Apron Grant 20.106 122,774

Total Airport Improvement Program and COVID-19 Airports 
Programs 0 380,660

Total Department of Transportation 380,660
Department of Housing and Urban Development

Community Development Block Grants/State's program and Non-
Entitlement Grants in Hawaii

Siskiyou Microenterprise Coronavirus Relief 14.228

State of California 
Department of Housing 

and Community 
Development

20-CDBG-CV1-00120 340,516

Siskiyou Microenterprise Assistance Coronavirus Relief 14.228

State of California 
Department of Housing 

and Community 
Development

20-CDBG-CV2.3-00050 6,102

Economic Development Micro Enterprise Assistance 14.228

State of California 
Department of Housing 

and Community 
Development

20-CDBG-12088 1,880

Total Community Development Block Grants/State's program and 
Non-Entitlement Grants in Hawaii 66,913 348,498

Total Department of Housing and Urban Development 348,498
Department of the Treasury

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds

Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 21.027
State of California
NOT AVAILABLE 187,071

Total Coronavirus State and Local Fiscal Recovery Funds 0 187,071

Total Department of the Treasury 535,569
United States Department of Agriculture

Water and Waste Disposal Systems for Rural Communities

Water Mainline Replacement Project 10.760 3,919,970

Total Water and Waste Disposal Systems for Rural Communities 0 3,919,970

Total United States Department of Agriculture 3,919,970
Total Other Programs 4,836,199

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards  $ 66,913  $ 5,045,418 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this schedule 

CITY OF DUNSMUIR
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards  

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022

4570



City of Dunsmuir 
Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022 
 

46 
 

 
 
NOTE A—BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) includes the federal grant activity 
of the City of Dunsmuir (the City) under programs of the federal government for the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2022. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance with the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. 
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion 
of the operations of the City, it is not intended to and does not present the financial net position or changes in 
net position of the City.  
 
NOTE B—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
1. Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures 
are recognized following the cost principles contained in OMB Circular A-87, Cost Principles for State, Local, 
and Indian Tribal Governments, when applicable, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or 
are limited as to reimbursement. Also, when applicable, recognition is following the Uniform Guidance for federal 
awards granted after December 26, 2014. 
 
2. Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented where available.  
 
NOTE C—SUBRECIPIENTS  
 
Of the federal expenditures presented in the schedule, the City provided $66,913 of the federal awards to 
subrecipients. 
 
NOTE D—INDIRECT COST RATE 

 
The City did not elect to use the 10% de Minimis indirect cost rate on the federal awards presented in this 
schedule. 
 
NOTE E—LOAN BALANCE 
 
During the fiscal year, the Federal award program from the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), 
titled “Water and Waste Disposal Systems for Rural Communities” (10.760), for the construction of the Water 
Mainline Replacement Project, continued with Federal funding in the form of interim construction loan financing 
that is considered to be Federal loan financing as it is guaranteed and will be paid off by the RD/RUS USDA 
loan financing at the completion of construction (See Note 7). The balance of the loan at the end of audit period, 
June 30, 2022, drawn to fund the USDA Federal program expenditures, is $6,131,070. The total Federal 
expenditures reported on the Schedule is $3,919,970 and the current year loan increase is $3,447,519. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

71



City of Dunsmuir 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022 
 

47 
 

SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS 

Financial Statements 

1. The Independent Auditor’s Report expressed an unmodified opinion on whether the financial 
statements of the City of Dunsmuir (City), were prepared in accordance with GAAP. 

2. A material weakness relating to the audit of the financial statements is reported in the Independent 
Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters 
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards. 

3. No instances of noncompliance material to the financial statements of the City were identified which 
would be required to be reported in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 

Federal Awards 

1. The Independent Auditor’s Report on compliance over major Federal award programs expressed an 
unmodified opinion on all major Federal award programs. 

2. A material weakness was identified in internal control over compliance for the major Federal award 
programs reported in the Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for each Major Program and on 
Internal Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance. 

3. Material weakness in internal control over major programs is reported in accordance with 2 CFR Section 
200.516(a) in this Schedule. 

4. Identification of the major Federal program: 

 United States Department of Agriculture, Water and Waste Disposal Systems for 
Rural Communities, CFDA No. 10.760 

 5. Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs was $750,000. 
 6. The City did not qualify as a low-risk auditee under 2 CFR section 200.520. 
 
FINDINGS – FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT 

2022–001 Material Weakness 

Material Audit Adjustments and Lack of Effective Internal Control over Financial Close and Reporting 

Condition: During the audit of the year ended June 30, 2022, I identified and posted numerous (22) audit 
adjustments as part of my audit to correct material misstatements. These were required in order for the financial 
statements to be prepared in accordance and/or conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
(GAAP). In addition, the City relied on the external auditor to ensure its financial statements are in accordance 
with GAAP and to ensure that all necessary disclosures are included in the notes to the financial statements 
and the notes to the SEFA.  

Criteria: In accordance with Statement on Auditing Standards No. 122c, external auditors cannot be part of an 
entity’s internal controls over the preparation of the financial statements and are prohibited from auditing their 
own work, which could impair independence. All City financial documents should be final and reconciled before 
the audit begins. All adjustments necessary for the financial statements to be prepared in accordance and/or 
conformity with GAAP should be identified and posted by the City.  

Cause: The Finance Director did not identify and post numerous material closing entries for the year under 
audit. These adjustments were not identified by the Finance Director because of ineffective internal controls 
over the financial close process.  

Effect: Financial statements, which are not in conformity with GAAP and contained material misstatements, 
could have been prepared and distributed. Interim reporting to City Council and interested third parties could 
contain material misstatements leading to inaccurate decisions impacting the City. There are no questioned 
costs related to this finding. 

 

72



City of Dunsmuir 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022 
 

48 
 

2022–001 (continued) 

Context: This is a repeat finding from the prior year audits of the fiscal years ending June 30, 2018 through 
2021, and is considered pervasive. 

Recommendation: I recommend that management take steps to ensure that all adjustments necessary to 
prepare financial statements in accordance with GAAP be identified and posted prior to the start of the audit. 
The City should ensure that the Finance Director has ample time and resources to adequately perform the year-
end financial close and reporting process to ensure the City’s financial statements are not materially misstated. 
Lastly, since the City is now using a qualified CPA (i.e. pre-auditor) to assist the Finance Director with the year-
end close process and assist with preparing the GAAP financial statements at year-end, I recommend that there 
be better coordination of respective duties between the Finance Director and the pre-auditor, design procedures 
to streamline the pre-audit process to make it more efficient and effective, and more time be given to the 
extensive process of preparing for the audit. 

Views of Responsible Officials: The City agrees with the finding. 

SINGLE AUDIT 

2022-002 Material Weakness in Internal Controls over Compliance: Cost Principles 

United States Department of Agriculture, Water and Waste Disposal Systems for Rural Communities, 
ALN 10.760 - Year ended June 30, 2022 

Condition: The City does not have written policies and procedures for compliance over Federal award programs 
approved by City Council.  

Criteria: Under Uniform Guidance cost principles, all grantees who receive Federal funds must have “specific” 
written policies and procedures for compliance over Federal award programs for all 12 compliance requirements 
found in the Uniform Guidance, especially compliance requirements such as cash management, procurement, 
suspension and debarment, reporting, activities allowed and allowable costs, since these are the most direct 
and material to construction-type and CDBG programs. 

Cause: During the last fiscal year the City has worked towards codifying their policies and procedures for 
compliance over the Federal compliance requirements for all Federal award programs, however,  it has not had 
these formally approved by City Council. 

Effect: Without effectively written and communicated policies and procedures the City will be in noncompliance 
in the operation of Federal programs and employees might not have the direction necessary to stay in 
compliance with all Federal compliance requirements when working on or managing Federal award programs. 

Context: This is a repeat finding of 2021-002 for this Federal program. There are no questioned costs related 
to this finding. 

Recommendation: The City should get the City Council approval of the written policies and procedures for 
compliance over Federal award programs, distribute them to the appropriate City staff and provide training on 
the new policies and procedures.   

Views of responsible officials:  The City agrees with the finding. 

73



City of Dunsmuir 
Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings 

For the Year Ended June 30, 2022 
 

49 
 

Summary of Prior Audit Findings 

Financial Statement Audit 

2021-001 Material Audit Adjustments and Lack of Effective Internal Control over Financial Close and 
Reporting 

Status: As noted in the current year finding, 2022-001, this finding has not been fully and effectively 
implemented.  

The City has implemented the following: 

 The City contracted with a qualified outside CPA to assist with the year-end close and 
reporting process in order to reduce the number of material misstatements and present 
fairly stated financial statements 

 The Finance Director received training during the fiscal year 

 The schedule of federal expenditures was prepared in accordance with Uniform Guidance 
and was fairly stated as presented to the auditor for the annual audit 

The following actions are in the process of being implemented: 

 Design procedures and effective communication channels to streamline the pre-audit 
process and ensure it is more effective 

 Ensure more time is given to the audit preparation process 

Single Audit 

2021-002 United States Department of Agriculture, Water and Waste Disposal Systems for Rural 
Communities, ALN 10.760, and 2021-003 United States Department of Transportation, Airport 
Improvement Program and COVID-19 Airports Programs, ALN 20.106 

Material Weakness in Internal Control over Compliance: Cost Principles 

Status: As noted in the current year finding, 2022-002, this finding is partially corrected. 

The corrective action plan anticipated that the Finance Director would have written policies and procedures for 
all 12 compliance requirements by June 30, 2023 and they will be communicated to City personnel.  

The City has implemented the following: 

 Develop a draft of the policies and procedures for all 12 compliance requirements 

The following actions are in the process of being implemented: 

 City Council approval of the final policies and procedures 

 Distribute policies and procedures 
 Train staff on the new policies and procedures 

 
 

74



CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 

Year ended 6/30/22 

Finding:  2022-001 

Agency:  City of Dunsmuir 

Responsible person name/title:  Blake Michaelsen, Finance Director 

Anticipated completion date:  06/30/2023 

Agency’s response:  Concur 

Corrective action plan:  The City’s Finance Director will work diligently to reduce material adjustments 
for the 6/30/2023 audit, will continue to work with the contract CPA to assist with the financial close 
and reporting process, and develop procedures to make the process more effective and efficient. 

Finding:  2022-002 

Agency:  City of Dunsmuir 

Responsible person name/title:  Blake Michaelsen, Finance Director 

Anticipated completion date:  06/30/2024 

Agency’s response:  Concur 

Corrective action plan:  The City’s Finance Director will submit the written policies and procedures for 
all 12 compliance requirements found in the Uniform Guidance to City Council for approval and 
codification. The policies and procedures will be distributed to City staff and staff will be trained on the 
new policies and procedures. 

50 

75



  Page 1  

City of Dunsmuir 
 
 
 

STAFF REPORT 

RE:   Silver and Wright Legal Services Agreement to support Code 
Enforcement 

MEETING DATE:  
July 20, 2023 

 

SUBMITTED BY:   Dustin J. Rief, City Manager 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:        Information only       Discussion      Action Item 

 

WHAT IS BEING ASKED OF THE CITY COUNCIL: To review and authorize the City Manager to enter into a Legal 
Services Agreement with Silver and Wright to assist the City in Code Enforcement Actions 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  The City Council has made a concerted effort in supporting Code Enforcement 
over the past 4 years with supporting of a full-time code service officer.  The efforts towards the low hanging 
fruit continues, however, some of the more challenging legal requirements of continued effective code 
enforcement require a more specialized nature that is outside of the capacity of Kenny and Norine. Staff has a 
number of code enforcement actions ready to move forward and is in need of assistance to complete them. 
Staff is making a recommendation to approve the Legal Services Agreement to assist in completing code 
enforcement actions.   

OPTIONS:  

1. Approve the Legal Services Agreement with Silver and Wright 
2. Continue with current process with Kenny and Norine, with an understanding of a slower progress 

towards code enforcement actions. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 None  Yes  Budgeted Item?   Yes    No 

Budget Adjustment Needed?   Yes    No   If yes, amount of appropriation increase:   

Affected fund(s):  General Fund    Water OM Fund    Sewer OM Fund    Other:  

Comments: The costs association with actions against properties will be assessed back to the properties through 
the legal process.  

SUGGESTED MOTIONS: Motion to Approve the Legal Services Agreement with Silver and Wright to Assist with 
Code Enforcement.  

 

  

76



 

– 1 of 5 – 

CITY OF DUNSMUIR 

LEGAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

WITH 

SILVER & WRIGHT LLP 

1. CAPTION 

1.1. This Legal Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is effective as of July 1, 2023 

(“Effective Date”), by and between the City of Dunsmuir (“City”), a California municipal 

corporation, and Silver & Wright LLP (“S&W”), a California limited liability partnership engaged 

in the practice of law in the State of California. 

2. RECITALS 

2.1. The City wishes to engage S&W to perform nuisance abatement, code enforcement, 

receivership, and City Prosecutor legal services, as assigned by City staff, in order to rehabilitate 

dangerous nuisance properties in the City, prevent the spread of blight, enforce the City’s 

municipal code, and protect the health and safety of the community.  These legal services may 

include, but are not limited to, nuisance abatement enforcement, municipal code enforcement, 

health and safety laws enforcement, administrative proceedings, receiverships, civil actions, 

criminal prosecutions, liability defense, ordinance drafting, cost recovery, legal advice, and similar 

related services. 

2.2. S&W wishes to provide all such services and has the necessary experience, expertise, 

and competency to provide such services.  S&W has extensive experience successfully litigating 

numerous nuisance abatement cases, representing public agencies in administrative hearings, 

prosecuting civil and criminal enforcement cases, drafting and implementing nuisance abatement 

and code enforcement ordinances, and rehabilitating substantially dangerous nuisance properties 

throughout the State, in addition to recovering cities’ and counties’ costs incurred in those actions 

to the maximum extent permitted by law, and recovering administrative and civil fines and 

penalties where appropriate as well. 

3. TERMS 

3.1. Scope of Services.  S&W shall serve as the City’s nuisance abatement and code 

enforcement attorneys and City Prosecutor, and shall provide legal advice, support, and 

representation in nuisance abatement, code enforcement, police services, liability defense, and cost 

recovery matters as assigned by City staff. 

3.2. Compensation.  S&W shall only bill the City for legal services at the rate of: $248 per 

hour for all associate attorney and lawyer services; $267 per hour for all partner and of counsel 

attorney services; and $149 per hour for all paralegal, law clerk, and other paraprofessional 

services.  S&W will keep track of all billing entries on a daily basis with accurate descriptions of 

77



S&W LEGAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

 

– 2 of 5 – 

the legal services provided.  S&W will only charge in increments of one tenth of an hour, rounded 

up to the nearest one tenth of an hour for each particular activity.  S&W does not use minimum 

billing increments for specific tasks, and will only bill for the actual time spent working on the 

City’s matters.  S&W’s rates may increase by up to five percent per year beginning January 1, 

2024, to offset rising legal costs. 

3.3. Cost Reimbursement.  The City shall reimburse S&W for all costs and expenses 

incurred by S&W in providing legal services under this Agreement, including court fees, process 

server fees, courier and messenger fees, postage expenses, property title research costs, litigation 

guaranty expenses, legal research costs, discovery and depositions costs, printing and document 

reproduction costs, travel, automobile mileage at the prevailing IRS rate, litigation costs, and other 

costs necessary for legal representation.  S&W will only charge for costs and expenses that are 

actually incurred. 

3.4. Billing.  S&W will submit monthly invoices to the City for the legal services provided 

under this Agreement.  S&W’s invoices will include a breakdown of all legal fees and costs with 

detailed itemized descriptions.  The invoices shall be due and payable within 30 days of the invoice 

date. 

3.5. Client Trust Account.  S&W will maintain a Client Trust Account for the City in the 

form of a State Bar of California (“CalBar”) approved Interest On Lawyers’ Trust Account 

(“IOLTA”) for all funds received by S&W for the City.  Pursuant to CalBar’s arrangement for 

IOLTAs, all interest earned on the IOLTA will be credited to CalBar for public benefit purposes.  

Subject to applicable law, the City grants S&W a lien on all funds in the IOLTA to secure S&W’s 

attorneys’ fees and costs owed to S&W by the City. 

3.6. Guaranty Disclaimer.  In accordance with the California Rules of Professional Conduct, 

S&W makes no promises or guarantees regarding the outcome of any particular legal matter or 

legal proceeding.  S&W is prohibited by law from guarantying outcomes in legal matters, and 

nothing shall be interpreted as a guaranty by S&W as to the outcome of any legal matter.  The City 

warrants that it has not entered this Agreement on the basis of any guaranty by S&W as to the 

outcome of any particular legal matter, and the City understands than any assessment of a legal 

matter by S&W is not a guaranty the outcome in that matter. 

3.7. Independent Contractor.  S&W shall perform all legal services required under this 

Agreement as an independent contractor of the City and S&W shall remain a wholly independent 

contractor with only such obligations as are required under this Agreement.  Under no 

circumstances shall S&W, nor any of its agents, be considered an employee of the City and under 

no circumstances shall any employment benefits inure to S&W nor its agents. 

3.8. Responsibilities of Parties.  S&W will fully cooperate with the City and will keep the 

City and its staff informed of the status and progress of all pending matters and all legal matters 

of importance.  S&W will manage and control the delivery of all legal services described hereunder 

in a professional, competent, and cost-effective manner.  The City agrees to provide all information 

and documentation necessary for S&W to perform its obligations under this Agreement. 

78



S&W LEGAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

 

– 3 of 5 – 

3.9. Insurance.  Throughout the duration of this Agreement, S&W will maintain the 

following policies of insurance in full force and effect, paid for at its own expense, with insurance 

companies licensed in the State of California, and shall provide proof of insurance upon demand: 

3.9.1. Professional Liability Insurance.  S&W shall carry professional liability errors 

and omissions insurance in the amount required by California Corporations 

Code section 16956(a)(2).  S&W represents and warrants that its current 

professional liability insurance exceeds the amount required by law with limits 

of $2,000,000 per occurrence and $4,000,000 in the aggregate. 

3.9.2. General Liability and Automobile Insurance.  S&W shall carry general liability 

and automobile insurance with the minimum coverage of $1,000,000 per 

occurrence and $1,000,000 in the aggregate.  S&W represents and warrants that 

its current general liability and automobile insurance exceeds the amount 

required by law with limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 in the 

aggregate. 

3.9.3. Workers’ Compensation Insurance.  S&W has and will continue to carry 

workers’ compensation insurance as required by the State of California.  S&W 

has and will continue to carry employer’s liability insurance with a minimum 

coverage of $1,000,000. 

3.10. Conflict Waiver.  S&W represents many clients throughout the State.  S&W may have 

represented in the past, may currently represent, or may represent in the future other clients who 

may have been, currently are, or may become adverse to the City.  However, S&W will not use 

any information it has about the City to the City’s disadvantage, nor will it represent any other 

clients in matters that are currently adverse to the City or are substantially related to matters S&W 

is handling for the City.  If any potential conflicts arise, S&W will either withdraw from 

representation or will screen off the necessary attorneys and information as required by law.  

Accordingly, the City waives any past, current, or future conflicts of interest relating to such 

representation of S&W’s other clients, and agrees that S&W may continue to represent, and in the 

future may represent, other clients in any matters that are not substantially related and adverse to 

matters S&W is handling for the City. 

3.11. Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date 

set forth in this Agreement and shall continue in full force and effect until terminated as provided 

herein. 

3.12. Termination.  This Agreement shall continue until terminated in writing by either party.  

In the event of termination, the City shall pay S&W all outstanding fees and costs in accordance 

with this Agreement for all services provided and costs incurred through the date of termination.  

The City agrees to execute, upon request, a stipulation in such form as to permit S&W to withdraw 

as attorneys of record in any legal action then pending.  S&W shall make available to the City, or 

to counsel designated by the City, all documents, records, and work-product related to the legal 

services provided to the City under this Agreement, and S&W shall assist in the orderly transition 

of all pending matters to the City’s new counsel to the fullest extent possible.  S&W shall be 

79



S&W LEGAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

 

– 4 of 5 – 

entitled to compensation and reimbursement for all time and expenses associated with the 

production of documents and transition of pending matters at the rates set forth in this Agreement. 

3.13. Document Retention.  S&W shall retain the City’s documents for at least two years after 

the conclusion of the relevant matter, after which they will be destroyed.  If the City wishes to 

retain copies of any documents beyond that time, the City must notify S&W in writing within that 

two-year period. 

3.14. Confidentiality.  The parties agree to keep this Agreement confidential to the greatest 

extent permissible under the law.  This Agreement is exempt from disclosure under the California 

Public Records Act pursuant to Government Code section 7927.705, Evidence Code sections 952 

and 954, Business and Professions Code sections 6068(e)(1) and 6149, and County of Los Angeles 

Board of Supervisors v. Superior Court (ACLU) (2017) 12 Cal.App.5th 1264. 

3.15. Indemnification.  The City shall indemnify, defend, and hold S&W harmless for any 

claims, actions, liabilities, or losses by any third-parties arising out of any work performed by 

S&W for the City the same as other City officials.  This is intended to protect S&W from the 

common lawsuits that are filed by third-parties against public agencies in which representatives of 

those public agencies are often named despite only being involved within their official capacity as 

agents of those public agencies.  S&W is not waiving its professional liability obligations to the 

City, but only ensuring that S&W is protected the same as other agents and public officials of the 

City in lawsuits dealing with actions taken by the City. 

3.16. Transfers.  Neither this Agreement, nor any interest, right, duty, or obligation herein, 

may be transferred, assigned, delegated, conveyed, hypothecated, or encumbered without the prior 

written approval of the other parties. 

3.17. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed and interpreted in accordance with 

the laws of the State of California. 

3.18. Legal Notices.  Notices relating to this Agreement must be in writing and sent to the 

physical addresses set forth below.  A party may change its address for notices by giving notice as 

required by this provision.  Written notice will be considered effective: (a) the day it is personally 

delivered or actually received; (b) five business days after deposit with the United States Post 

Office as certified first-class mail with return receipt requested and postage prepaid; or (c) two 

business days after deposit with a reputable overnight delivery service for next day delivery. 

3.18.1. City: 

CITY OF DUNSMUIR 

Attention: Dustin Rief, City Manager 

5915 Dunsmuir Avenue 

Dunsmuir, California 96025 

3.18.2. S&W: 

SILVER & WRIGHT LLP 

Attention: Curtis R. Wright, Managing Partner 

3 Corporate Park, Suite 100 

Irvine, California 92606 

80



S&W LEGAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

 

– 5 of 5 – 

3.19. Enforcement Costs.  The prevailing party in any dispute to enforce or interpret this 

Agreement shall be entitled to recover its reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees arising from the 

dispute from the non-prevailing party.  S&W shall be entitled to any such costs and attorneys’ fees 

even if the work is performed by S&W’s in-house attorneys. 

3.20. Modification.  This Agreement can only be changed, modified, amended, supplemented, 

or rescinded in a separate writing signed by all parties. 

3.21. Waivers.  A waiver of any provision of this Agreement must be in writing.  Failure to 

insist upon strict performance of any provision, right, duty, or obligation in this Agreement is not 

a waiver of the right to future enforcement of that provision, right, duty, or obligation, nor any 

other provision, right, duty, or obligation. 

3.22. Severability.  If any of the provisions of this Agreement are found to be unenforceable, 

those provisions shall be reformed to prevent the unenforceable result in a manner that best 

preserves the original intent of the provision to the fullest extent possible, and all other provisions 

of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

3.23. Integration.  This Agreement constitutes the final, complete, and exclusive expression 

of all the terms and provisions of the agreement between the parties.  This Agreement supersedes 

any previous agreements or negotiations between the parties, whether oral or written. 

3.24. Authority.  The City’s signatory has been authorized by the City Council to execute this 

Agreement on behalf of the City.  S&W’s signatory has been authorized by the partnership to 

execute this Agreement on behalf of S&W. 

3.25. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of which shall 

constitute an original. 

CITY OF DUNSMUIR 

By: ______________________________ Dated: _________________________ 

 Mr. Dustin Rief 

 City Manager 

SILVER & WRIGHT LLP 

By: ______________________________ Dated: _________________________ 

 Curtis R. Wright, Esq. 

 Managing Partner 

 

81



  Page 1  

City of Dunsmuir 
 
 
 

STAFF REPORT 

RE:   Public Works Building Site Plan Engineering Proposal MEETING DATE:  
July 20, 2023 

 

SUBMITTED BY:   Dustin J. Rief, City Manager 

PURPOSE OF REPORT:        Information only       Discussion      Action Item 

 

WHAT IS BEING ASKED OF THE CITY COUNCIL: To review and authorize the Engineering Proposal for the Public 
Works Building. 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  The City is in the process of building a new public works facility. This facility and 
site plan require a number of layers of engineering design for the building and site to meet the construction 
requirements per the building code. Staff has reviewed the proposal and is making the recommendation to 
approve the engineering and bid document proposal.  

OPTIONS:  

1. Approve the proposal from Pace Engineering to Provide services as outlined 
2. Request Changes or adjustments to the proposal 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

 None  Yes  Budgeted Item?   Yes    No 

Budget Adjustment Needed?   Yes    No   If yes, amount of appropriation increase:   

Affected fund(s):  General Fund    Water OM Fund    Sewer OM Fund    Other:  

Comments:  

SUGGESTED MOTIONS: Motion to Approve the proposal with Pace Engineering for the development of 
engineering and Construction documents for the Public Works Building Construction in the amount of 
$156,000. 

 

  

82



5155 VENTURE PARKWAY 

REDDING, CA  96002 

(530) 244-0202 
 
 
 

 

PROPOSAL 
  

 

July 13, 2023 
 
Dustin Rief, City Manager  
City of Dunsmuir 
5915 Dunsmuir Avenue 
Dunsmuir, CA  96025 
citymanager@ci.dunsmuir.ca.us 
 
Dear Dustin, 
 
Subject: City of Dunsmuir (City) New Public Works Shop Building  
 Proposal for Engineering Design and Surveying Services 
 
PACE Engineering, Inc. (PACE) appreciates the opportunity to submit this proposal and once 
again team with the City for the new Public Works Shop Building project.  It is our 
understanding that you are requesting a proposal for the following services:  

• Geotechnical Investigation and Report  

• Civil Engineering  

• Site Survey 

• Architectural Design (to be performed by a California-licensed Structural Engineer) 

• Structural Engineering 

• Electrical Engineering (including Fire Alarm and Low Voltage Design) 

• Mechanical and Plumbing Engineering  
 
This proposal is based on the following assumptions: 

1. Preliminary Site Plan Version 3 dated May 31, 2023. 
2. New shop building shall be a pre-engineered metal building that is 4,800 square feet. 
3. Additional site structure to include retaining walls and a three-sided covered materials 

storage bin. 
4. Task 100 – Site Development will include the following: 

a. Additional site survey to support design for extending frontage improvements north 
approximately 120 feet to existing curb, gutter, and sidewalk at baseball field. 

b. Geotechnical investigation and report. 
c. Construction documents for all site features. 

83



PROPOSAL  City of Dunsmuir New Public Works Shop Building 
 

 

d. Floor plans, elevations, and specifications as necessary for the pre-engineered metal 
building. 

e. Construction documents for re-roofing the existing Community Center that is 
adjacent to this site to match the roofing of the new metal buildings. 

5. Task 200 – Shop Building Tenant Improvement will consist of a separate set of 
construction documents for the design and construction of the interior build-out of 
the shop building. 
a. The shop building will be mostly open space other than approximately a 

1,200 square-foot section.  This space will be conditioned and will consist of 
offices and storage for the Parks and Recreation Department. 

 
We propose to perform the Scope of Services described herein for the lump-sum fee as 
detailed below: 

 PHASE 

DISCIPLINE 
Site 

Development 
(Task 100) 

Tenant 
Improvement 

(Task 200) 

Bidding 
(XX) 

Construction 
Administration 

(XX) 

Fee 
Subtotals 

Geotechnical $13,500 $0 $0 $0 $13,500 

Civil/Survey $29,300 $0 $0 $0 $29,300 

Architectural/ 
Structural 

$45,000 $27,500 $0 $0 $72,500 

Mechanical/ 
Electrical/ 
Plumbing 

$14,200 $27,100 $0 $0 $41,300 

 FEE TOTAL: $156,600 

 
Thank you again for the opportunity to submit this proposal.  If the Scope of Services and fee 
are agreeable to you, please let us know, and we will prepare a task order authorizing us to 
proceed with these services.  Please contact me if you have any questions. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Seth Petrie 
Principal Engineer 
 

84



  Page 1 

SCOPE OF SERVICES  City of Dunsmuir Public Works Shop Building 

 

 

 

PACE will provide engineering services necessary to complete construction documents, which will 
be submitted to the City and Authority Having Jurisdiction (AHJ) for review and approval.  The AHJ 
for this project is anticipated to be the City.  
 

A list of the Scope of Services for each discipline is as follows: 

GENERAL 

1. The services proposed shall be compliant with current applicable codes. 
2. This proposal is based on the following site visits: 

a. One site visit for design kick-off meeting. 
b. One site visit during design to evaluate and document existing conditions. 

3. This proposal is based on the following design submittals: 
a. 100% Design Development Documents to be reviewed with the City and refine 

project layout. 
b. 50% Construction Documents for all disciplines to be reviewed with the City. 
c. 100% Construction Documents to be submitted to the AHJ for review. 
d. Approved for Bid Construction Documents, which will include any necessary 

revisions to address AHJ comments. 
4. Virtual meetings with the Client and/or Owner as required during design.  
5. Bid Construction Documents shall include drawings and technical specifications in 

8.5”x11” format. 
6. Respond to AHJ permit comments and modify drawings as necessary. 
7. Major scope revisions or value engineering required past 50% Construction Documents 

are outside the scope of this proposal and can be performed as additional services at 
our standard hourly rates.  

8. All post design services including bidding and support during construction are not 
included with this proposal. 

 
SURVEY 

1. Perform additional site survey and prepare a topographic map in AutoCAD format, 
which shows the following information: 

a. Trees - location and diameter. 
b. Roads and access driveways. 
c. Drainage courses. 
d. Topography at six-inch intervals. 
e. Existing site improvements, including: 

i. Structures (building corners and posts/columns). 
ii. Curbs. 

iii. Paving. 
iv. Concrete walkways. 
v. Existing site utilities visible from the surface. 

vi. Spot elevations as required by Architect. 
vii. Finish floor elevations of all structures and at all door landings. 

85



  Page 2 

SCOPE OF SERVICES  City of Dunsmuir Public Works Shop Building 

 

 

viii. Significant grade changes (e.g., stairs, ramps, and vertical edges). 
ix. Delineation of unique site features as needed to provide a complete 

description of the existing condition of the survey area. 
2. Determine property line locations for the purpose of locating permanent site features. 

CIVIL 

1. Design Development: 
a. Preliminary grading and utility plans showing site grading with rough grading 

volumes, drainage, and utility concepts.  Check proposed improvement 
clearances with existing site features and note any potential grading or utility 
issues. 

b. Review project geotechnical report and recommend pavement cross sections. 
2. Construction Documents: 

a. Prepare project improvement drawings: 
i. Existing conditions/Topographic map. 

ii. Demolition plan showing removal, as required, of existing buildings, site 
features, and utilities, including notes to Contractor. 

iii. Grading and drainage plan. 
iv. Utility plan showing the following: 

a. Domestic water distribution. 
b. Fire water distribution. 
c. Sanitary sewer collection. 
d. Dry utilities (electric, telecom, gas, etc.) for coordination purposes 

only.  Design to be provided by others. 
v. Interim erosion control plan. 

vi. Enlarged plans, profiles, and details necessary to support site plans. 
b. Prepare grading, hydrology, and drainage calculations and reports necessary to 

support the Construction Documents. 
 

ARCHITECTURAL 

1. Design Development of architectural model, floor plans, and exterior elevations based 
on the preliminary drawings. 

2. Project coordination and management with the City and all design disciplines. 
3. Code analysis to include allowable building area, occupancy classification, occupant 

loads for egress and minimum plumbing fixtures, and fire flows. 
4. Construction documents to include the following: 

a. Cover sheet, general notes, abbreviations, code analyses, and sheet index. 
b. Testing and inspection checklists. 
c. California Green Building Code Standards checklists. 
d. Life safety/Egress plans. 
e. Typical architectural and accessibility details. 
f. Door, window, and finish schedules. 
g. Architectural floor plan. 
h. Reflected ceiling plan. 

86



  Page 3 

SCOPE OF SERVICES  City of Dunsmuir Public Works Shop Building 

 

 

i. Architectural elevations (interior and exterior). 
j. Architectural sections and details. 

STRUCTURAL 

1. Structural calculations as necessary for items listed below. 
2. Review and coordination of structural details for all disciplines. 
3. Provide structural drawings to include the following: 

a. General notes, design criteria, and structural specifications. 
b. Typical interior partition details. 
c. General foundation plans for pre-engineered metal building.  Final foundation 

design shall be provided by the Contractor. 
d. Details for site retaining walls. 
e. Structural sections and details. 

4. Performance specification for the pre-engineered metal building and site structure. 

ELECTRICAL 

Electrical Construction Documents: 

1. One-line diagram showing power distribution throughout the area of work.  
2. Electric utility coordination, including submittal of applications, calculations, and all 

requested drawings.  This will include coordination for undergrounding power that 
serves the existing community center. 

3. Electrical site plan:  Site conduit/conductors to be fully detailed and coordinated with the 
Owner and sized in accordance with the California Electrical Code, Title 24, Part 3 (Electrical 
Code).  

4. Electrical load, voltage drop, and short circuit calculations shall be performed in accordance 
with the Electrical Code and the California Energy Code, Title 24, Part 6 (Energy Code).  

5. Power plans:  Receptacle locations and quantities shall be fully coordinated.  Low voltage 
device boxes and conduit requirements shall be coordinated.  Devices and wiring shall be 
by others.  Mechanical and special loads shall be fully coordinated. 

6. Panelboard schedules with all new and modified loads identified.  
7. Interior lighting plans:  Luminaire and lighting device locations, types, and control within 

the new area of work shall be fully coordinated.  Complete lighting calculations in 
accordance with Electrical Code and Energy Code requirements.  Luminaire and device 
cut sheets shall be submitted for approval. 

8. Exterior lighting plans:  Luminaire and lighting device locations, types, and control within 
the new area of work shall be fully coordinated.  The design will include both building 
and parking lot lighting.  Complete lighting calculations and photometric study in 
accordance with Energy Code requirements and IES recommendations.  Luminaire and 
device cut sheets shall be submitted for approval. 

9. Energy Code compliance documents: 
a. Electrical Power Distribution Systems (NRCC-ELC-E).  
b. Indoor Lighting (NRCC-LTI-E).  
c. Outdoor Lighting (NRCC-LTO-E). 

10. Details as required to accurately depict the improvements shown on the drawings.  

87



Page 4 

SCOPE OF SERVICES City of Dunsmuir Public Works Shop Building 

Fire Alarm Construction Documents: 

1. Fire alarm site plan shall fully detail the locations of all fire alarm control panels and the
routing of site conduit/conductors.

2. Fire alarm riser diagram showing the interconnection of fire alarm control panels and
devices.

3. Fire alarm plan:  Fire alarm panel locations shall be fully coordinated with the City.  Fire
alarm devices shall be placed in accordance with the NFPA and the device specifications.

4. Fire alarm cut sheets and CSFM listings shall be submitted to the City.
5. Details as required to accurately depict the improvements shown on the drawings.

Low Voltage Construction Documents: 

1. PACE anticipates the following technology systems will be included in our Scope of
Services:

a. Telephone and voice.
b. Data/Technology.
c. CCTV and security camera.

2. Technology plans:  Technology device locations and requirements shall be fully
coordinated with the City.  It is anticipated that the City will provide standards and/or
manufacturer preferences as a basis for design.  Raceways, device addresses, and
connection diagrams shall be depicted on the plans.  Cable routing will be detailed, and
plans will be compliant with all applicable standards.

3. Details as required to accurately depict the improvements shown on the drawings.

MECHANICAL AND PLUMBING 

Mechanical and Plumbing Construction Documents: 

1. Calculate ventilation air and exhaust requirements to meet code and industry standards.
2. Trace 3D calculations to determine heating and cooling loads.
3. Sizing of plumbing piping localized within buildings in compliance with applicable codes.
4. Coordination with the City to determine standard or preferred plumbing fixtures.
5. Performance specifications for fire sprinklers (dry system).  It is assumed that the

design, review, and stamp shall be by others and will be a deferred submittal.
6. Construction drawings:

a. General notes, equipment/fixture schedules, and legends.
b. Mechanical floor plans:

i. Supply, return, and exhaust duct systems.
ii. Primary HVAC equipment and systems, including cooling, heating,

ventilation, and exhaust systems.
c. Plumbing floor plans:

i. Selection of plumbing fixtures.
ii. Single-line waste, vent, and water piping for plumbing fixtures.

iii. HVAC equipment condensate drainage.
iv. Domestic water heater selection(s).
v. Sizing and details for propane tank(s) and gas piping to building.  The

existing tank will be re-used if feasible.

88



Page 5 

SCOPE OF SERVICES City of Dunsmuir Public Works Shop Building 

7. Energy Code compliance documents:
a. HVAC (NRCC-MCH-E).
b. Plumbing (NRCC-PLB-E).

8. Details as required to accurately depict the improvements shown on the drawings.

Building Envelope Compliance 

1. Energy Code compliance calculations and forms using California Building Energy Code
Compliance (CBECC) software.

EXCLUSIONS 

The following services are not included in the above Scope of Services: 

1. Landscape or irrigation design.
2. Post-Construction Standards (MS4) design.
3. Environmental/CEQA documents (to be provided by the City).
4. Stormwater SWPPP plan or documents.
5. Selection of furniture, fixtures, and equipment.
6. Design of pre-engineered metal buildings and foundations (to be provided by

Contractor).
7. Generation system.
8. Electrical vehicle charging station design.
9. Photovoltaic system design.
10. Battery system design.
11. Lighting commissioning and/or acceptance testing.
12. Arc flash study.
13. Water points of connection (POCs) shall have sufficient pressure and capacity, and

waste POCs shall have sufficient invert depths such that additional pumping is not
required.

14. Heating, cooling, ventilation, or exhaust systems in the shop building.  The shop building
will not be conditioned.

15. Compressed air systems.
16. Trench and floor drains for the shop building, sand/oil interceptors, and heat trace

systems.
17. Design of building management systems or site HVAC control systems.
18. Equipment payback, equipment cost comparisons, life cycle cost analysis, design to LEED

standards, or construction cost estimates.
19. Post design support services.  This proposal is only through obtaining permit approval by

the AHJ.
20. Coordination with PG&E or gas utilities.

M:\Jobs\00.04\2023\City of Dunsmuir\PW Shop Bldg\Proposal_Public Works Shop Bldg.docx 

89




